Evaluation of

THE EFFECTIVENESS OF TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE PERSONNEL

Financed by the Nordic Countries

By Kim Forss John Carlsen Egil Frøyland Taimi Sitari Knud Vilby

RIKSDAGSBIBLIOTEKET ÅRSBIBLIOGRAFIN

88. 06. 10

STOCKHOLM

4 Santy Commissioned by the Danish International Development Authority. DANIDA: the Finnish in Final Development Agency TUPNIDA: the Roy at Norwegian Ministry of Development Comparison of ACD/NORAD and the Systems International Development Authority SIDA:

Marie 198

SUMMARY

The four Nordic aid agencies have a considerable technical assistance personnel component in their development cooperation programmes. This component is expected to play an important role in the realization of the programmes' objectives. The aim of technical assistance personnel (TAP) has been defined as;

i.

"To assist host countries achieve the desired development of indigenous manpower resources, the sustained development of their institutions, and to contribute to the achievement of other project goals."

None of the Nordic countries had made any evaluation of this component of their aid programmes and so the present study was initiated. The objectives were:

- To evaluate the extent to which the aim of providing technical assistance personnel has been achieved, and to assess other effects, positive and negative.
- (2) To assess the relevance of the Nordic countries technical assistance personnel in relation to the needs expressed by the host countries.
- (3) To identify the main factors determining success or failure in achieving the aim of providing technical assistance personnel.
- (4) To compare the effectiveness of different categories of technical assistance personnel in achieving the aims, and to consider alternatives.
- (5) To make recommendations regarding factors to be noted and steps to be taken by the Nordic agencies in order to better fulfill the aim of providing technical assistance personnel.

It should be noted that the evaluation is concerned with personnel, it is thus not evaluating projects. The total impact of an aid project may well be positive even if the personnel component did not function well - and vice versa.

The evaluation was undertaken by a team of five consultants, representing four Nordic countries. The study was geographically confined to Kenya, Tanzania and Zambia. The empirical data came from studies of 55 assistance projects/programmes. Studies of the national manpower development policies were undertaken by researchers in Zambia, Kenya and Tanzania. The evaluation took place during 1987. This is a summary of the major results in respect of each of the evaluation's objectives.

(1) There were some 900 TAP in the three countries during 1987 at a total cost of 900 million SEK - an average of 1 million per manyear (based on the costs of consultants and aid agency employed TAP). Salary is only a small part of the total cost: administration, logistics, etc costitute the major part. The technical assistance personnel are most effective in contributing to the achievement of operational project goals. The achievement ratio is high in these respects. Job descriptions put an emphasis on these functions, but are vague and general concerning institutional development and training. As a consequence such objectives are seldom met. In fact, many aid projects have a negative impact on institutional development, for example by creating oversized organizations that are not sustainable without assistance.

Looking at the 900 manyears of assistance we must conclude that the institutional framework that should lead to a transfer of knowledge was non-existent or crippled. In several positions there was no need for foreign personnel. A limited number of persons did not have the necessary competence and training for working on aid programmes. In sum, the impact does not stand in any favourable relation to the cost.

(2) The manpower development in African countries has made rapid progress since Independence. The shortages of skilled personnel has been reduced, and in several areas there is a surplus of well qualified persons. The assistance programmes of the Nordic countries have not recognized these changes in the availability of local manpower. Very often TAP is suggested before the local manpower situation has been investigated. We found that in more than half of our case studies there was indeed local manpower available, but perhaps not on the terms and conditions prevalent in the governmental sector.

The need for TAP was identified by the Nordic aid agencies, their consultants and by technical assistance personnel on the projects in 56% of the cases. Even though requests for TAP are channelled through the official system, it is not the recipient countries that are the dynamic element in expressing the need for TAP. In 64% of the cases TAP were placed in new organizations set up by the donor for the sake of project implementation, or in special arrangements within existing organizations to secure donor control.

We estimated that 65% of TAP in our cases were implementors, 17% were controllers on behalf of the aid agencies, and only 11% and 7% were trainers and institution builders, respectively. This is far from the real and expressed needs of the recipient countries.

(3) Personal characteristics, preparatory training, language skills, backstopping, etc. are important for individual experts - but as long as the need for TAP has not been correctly identified they have no basis for being effective. In fact, effectiveness may then be detrimental to national development objectives.

Given that TAP are needed, the most important factor determining success or failure is the personnel development of local staff. In less than one third of our cases were such systems functioning well. Recruitment of qualified local staff, personnel development through on-the-job training and scholarships, combined with plans for out-phasing TAP and career opportunities for local staff, should be priority areas to increase the effectiveness of aid.

(4) Different projects require different types of technical assistance, there is no standard recipe concerning "modes" of assistance. There are also several categories of TAP. One common distinction is between agency employed TAP and consultants.

Consultant TAP often had a good record of reaching operational goals but were not effective in training and institutional development - this was more marked than with agency employed TAP. However some of the "best" cases in all respects were consultant employed TAP, so there is no general rule. There is a need for the aid agencies to strengthen their capacity to monitor and evaluate project performance whichever means of implementation they choose.

- (5) Our recommendations for an improved process of technical assistance follow three main lines of argument;
 - (i) a critical assessments of the needs, which will lead to a more extensive utilization of local personnel, and a significant reduction in the numbers of foreign assistance personnel.
- (ii) improvements of a detailed nature in the process of cooperation to make those experts that are still sent out more effective, particularly important is to increase the resource base through international recruitment of experts and consulting firms, continuous training on local culture and administration, emphasising personnel development, and promoting organizational learning in the aid agencies.
- (iii) an analysis of the process of technical assistance, that is, of different ways of delivering "aid". The present approach in aid agencies, as well as in consulting firms, does not allow for sufficient consideration of the environment, the purpose, or the internal consistency of the process of assistance.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			<u>Page</u>
1	Intro	auction	1
	1.1	Technical assistance from the Nordic countries	1
	1.2	Evaluations of Technical Assistance	6
	1.3	Objectives of the Evaluation	12
	1.4	Research Method	13
	1.5	Structure of the Report	19
2	The No	eed for Technical Assistance	21
	2.1	Observations	21
		2.1.1 Generalities	21
		2.1.2 Country Specific Factors	23
		2.1.3 Donor Motives	30 36
		2.1.4 Presentation of the Case Studies	41
	2.2	Analysis of Country Studies and Project Cases	41
		2.2.1 Availability of Local Manpower and	41
		the Need for TAP 2.2.2 The Role of TAP	42
		2.2.3 Conclusions and Recommendations	43
3		sions of the Effectiveness and impact	
	of TA	<u>P</u>	46
		Control Functions	46
	3.2	Operational Achievements	47
		Training (The counterpart-system)	49
		Institution Building	53
	3.5	The Number of Expatriate TAP	56
4	The I	AP Component of Projects	58
	4.1	TAP does not lead to Sustainable Projects	59
	4.2	A Vicious Circle	61
		Country Differences	63
	4.4	Water Projects	66
		Changing Priorities Over Time	67 68
	4.6	Project Documents Tell a Different Story	69
	4.7	Examples from Water and Health	71
	4.8	TAP from Different Sources	73
	4.9	A-in-A and TAP as a Free Gift	75 75
	4.10	Summary of Findings and Recommendations	-
5	<u>Host</u>	Country Attitudes to TAP	77
	5.1	Observations	77
	5.2	Analysis	79

81

5.3 Conclusions and Recommendations

			<u>Page</u>		
Polic	ies and	Procedures of Consultants	83		
6.1		rent Types of Consultant Companies	84		
6.2	Recrui	itment, Qualifications and Job Descriptions	85		
6.3	Training of Consultant TAP				
6.4	The In	pact	86		
6.5		zational Problems	87		
6.6	Typica	al Problems	88		
The F	roject	Cycle	93		
7.1	Job Id	Mentification and Sources of TAP	93		
		Donor Countries	93		
	7.1.2	Recipient Countries Involvement	93		
	7.1.3	The Possible Local Resource Base	94		
		Third World TAP	96		
	7.1.5	The Nordic Resource Base for TAP	96		
7.2	Recrui	tment of Personnel	98		
	7.2.1	Few Women Among TAP	100		
		Spouses' Job Situation	101		
	7.2.3	The Role of Recipient Countries	102		
7.3		atory Training	103		
	7.3.1	The Purpose of Training	103		
		Language Training	108		
	7.3.3	Conclusion and Recommendation	108		
7.4	Starti	ng of the Assignment	109		
	7.4.1	Role of Field Offices, Role of Consultants	109		
	7.4.2	Overlapping or	110		
	7.4.3	The Local Organization	111		
	7.4.4	Timing of Arrival	111		
7.5		and Performance of Technical			
		ance Personnel	112		
	7.5.1	The Most Common Problems Experienced by TAP	113		
	7.5.2	TAP as Trainers	115		
	7.5.3	Conflict Between Flexibility and			
		Lack of Planning	117		
	7.5.4	Executive Versus Advisory Functions	117		
	7.5.5	Duration of Assignment	118		
	7.5.6		119		
	7.5.7	TAP in the Social Environment	120		
7.6	Role o	of the Aid Agency			
	7.6.1	The Need for a Differentiated View of Roles	122		
	7.6.2	"Scanning" as a Mode of Operation	123		
	7.6.3	Backstopping Services			
7.7		d of an Assignment	126		
		Written Debriefing	126		
	7.7.2	Debriefing Sessions	127		

			Page
8	Alter	matives to TAP	129
	8.1	Local Consultants	129
	8.2	Second Staff from the Local Institutions	130
	8.3		132
	8.4	Short-term Consultants	133
	8.5	Implementation by a Local Institution	135
	8.6		136
	8.7	Intensive Training Locally and Abroad	137
	8.8	Other Alternatives	139
	8.9		140
		Expatriate Personnel (Consultancy/Personnel Funds) General Conclusion	140 141
	8.10	General Conclusion	TAT
9	Cost	and Efficiency of TAP	142
	9.1	The Cost of TAP as Compared with Alternatives	142
		9.1.1 The Cost of Agency Employed TAP	142
		9.1.2 Costs for Consultant TAP	144
	9.2	Cost of Alternatives to TAP	145
		9.2.1 Cost of Short-term Consultants	145 145
		9.2.2 Cost of Training of Local Manpower	145
		9.2.3 Cost of Volunteers 9.2.4 Cost of Third Country TAP	147
			147
		9.2.5 Cost of Local Project Implementation 9.2.6 Conclusion	148
		9.2.7 Cost to the Recipient	149
	9.3		147
	9.3	Categories of TAP	149
	9.4	- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	153
	214	TORCEOU TE LEGISTOR TOUR TOUR TENEDOUS	
10	Recon	mendations	156
70	ferenc	-ac	163
100			
		·	
		<u></u>	
Ar	nex 1	. Terms of Reference	

Arnex 2. National Manpower Policies and Attitudes Towards TAP in Tanzania

Annex 3. Recipient Country Attitudes, Policies and Procedures on Technical Assistance Personnel (TAP). Kenya Case Study

Annex 4. Evaluation of Zambia's Attitudes, Policies and Procedures concerning Technical Assistance Personnel

Annex 5. The Study of Policies and Procedures of Consultants

1.1. Technical Assistance from the Nordic countries

It is estimated that some 80.000 resident non-nationals are working on technical assistance programmes in the public and parastatal sectors of the 40 countries in sub-Sahara Africa. The personnel cost alone amounts to some USD 4 billion annually - which is a large sum by any standards. If we look at technical assistance in a global perspective, it is likely that the figure should be quadrupled. Furthermore, even larger numbers work for international companies in the developing countries. The effectiveness of expatriates is thus a question of general concern, and their effectiveness on aid programmes in particular as the latter group of expatriates are engaged in development cooperation.

Technical assistance from the Nordic countries has been growing continuously since the first years of development assistance. In 1986 Dermark, Finland, Norway and Sweden, jointly had slightly less than 1100 aid agency employed personnel working under technical assistance programmes. Furthermore, external organizations that implement aid programmes financed by the agencies also employ technical assistance personnel. There are no statistics for this category of personnel, but we assume that they are at least equally many. This means that the Nordic countries employ somewhere around 2.200 personnel on their aid programmes in developing countries. The total cost for this ended up around 2.200 million SEK in 1987.

This evaluation is concerned with the effectiveness of technical assistance personnel in three African countries; Kenya, Tanzania and Zambia. In January 1987 there were 568 agency employed expatriates and 316 employed by external organizations in these countries. This is a relatively small share of the total 30.000 technical assistance personnel (of all nationalities) present in the countries, but it is nevertheless a sizeable presence. As the Nordic technical assistance is concentrated to a few key sectors, and as personnel usually means senior technical and managerial professionals, their potential impact is large.

present any new ideas in this field, but as we are to discuss policies and as we observe widespread problems in the delivery of aid, it is natural to go

back to the beginnings and point to some problems at the source.

The concept of what constitutes development has been qualified over time, even though there is repeatedly a tendency to return to economic growth as development. In Sweden aid has officially been given to support four policy objectives;

- 1. Economic growth
- 2. Equal distribution of resources
- 3. National independence
- 4. Democracy

These cornerstones have been consistent since 1962, but in practice the emphasis has varied. It is easier to define projects that generate growth than promote democracy. There is less controversy over growth than distribution.

Norway, Dermark, Finland and Sweden have in common an emphasis on reaching the poorest people with assistance. They concentrate assistance to the least developed among developing countries and try to define projects that will benefit the poor. The policy opens the agencies to endless criticism as there can of course not be any consensus on who are the poorest, and what will benefit them, or how that could be combined with other objectives. Reaching the poorest may mean that you sacrifice growth and western concepts of democracy.

From time to time other objectives are introduced, gain prominence, and if they do not fade away they are institutionalized at some level. Environmental considerations, energy issues, and the role of women in development are some such issues. At times they have an impact on policy making throughout the organizations — and at other times not. To be seriously and effectively pursued they should of course influence all policy areas. How could an organization keep its respectability if it on the one hand demands that its clients give equal opportunities for men and women, and on the other hand mostly employs men? An emphasis on women in development must have consequences for internal personnel policies — just to take one example.

In a historical perspective assistance from Sweden and Dermark started somewhat earlier than from Norway - and Finland is a relative newcomer. But assistance from Finland has increased very rapidly in recent years, whereas it has stagnated from Sweden. The 1950s were the formative years of development assistance; patterns were set that are still with us today, eg the "project" idea as a combination of financial flows, personnel and training programmes. The first years' experience also led to revised organizational forms, DANIDA was formed in 1962 and SIDA in 1965. NORAD and FINNIDA were born later but of the same spiritual parentage.

Let us see to what extent ideas about development assistance born in those early days are still with us. First and foremost are the arguments for the legitimacy of aid. Modern communication shrank the world and brought the daily lives of other people into the living rooms of Scandinavia. Faced with different material standards of living, fed with the threat of overpopulation of the earth, meeting the rhetoric of independence leaders in Asia and Africa — it is not difficult to see a concern for international development emerging. The Nordic countries would not accept any "colonial" responsibility for the state of the globe, but they did accept an obligation to share some of their wealth. Aid is motivated by a sense of moral duty and international solidarity; it was an expression of the recognition that peace, freedom and welfare are not exclusive national concerns, but rather something increasingly universal and indivisible.

The second legacy concerns the objective of aid. The notion that growth equals development is as old as aid, the conviction that all the poor countries have to do in order to develop is to emulate the patterns and processes of the industrialized countries, is pervasive. We have perhaps come to see that reality is more complex and we have learnt respect for other cultures, but the attitudinal change is not complete, and when it comes to practical delivery of assistance it is even more difficult to find alternatives.

A continuous discussion on the meaning of development is important because everything starts with an objective. All other activities in the sphere of aid depend on the notion of what constitutes development; right from the policy statements of the aid organizations, to the design of the vehicle which is to deliver aid (the organizations, the programmes and projects) and onwards to the evaluation activities. This particular evaluation study can of course not

The third legacy from the beginnings of aid concerns the way we help. The very first piece of development assistance was people to do a job -perform a service - that nobody in the recipient country could do. Next the public debate, at least in Sweden, came to focus on large scale training programmes for people from the Third World in Scandinavia (to teach them how we have done). But of course funds for investment, in infrastructure, in productive resources were also necessary. And that is where we remain, these are the building blocks of aid. Emphasis on one or the other has shifted over the decades, there was a tilt towards training in the 1960s, next decade investment funds were relatively more important, then personnel have again gained ground. It seems as if the present trend is towards a relative increase of training in different forms.

The development project is also an invention of the 1950s. Projects are a concept for organizing and channeling resource flows. A project organizes productive activities and creates the physical and social infrastructure necessary to link markets and organizations. But projects are usually also fairly small units and they require, as well as facilitate, management. At times the project as a framework for management and control has been favoured. At other times the project mode of assistance has come under attack. The project form has a tendency to isolate activities, to impede coordination and to demand much of scarce managerial resources (Lecounte, 1986).

In the early 1970s there was instead a tendency to provide assistance with as few ties as possible — on the conditions of the recipient. Projects were substituted by sector programmes and general import support became a feature of cooperation in several countries. But the request for visible results lead to a swing back, a project can have objectives of a scale that can be assessed — and thus projects were again favoured by the aid agencies. But the penculum has not swung all the way back, and there are differences among the Nordic adonor agencies. DANIDA, NORAD and FINNIDA are providing more aid in project form than SIDA.

After this very brief sketch of why we give aid, for what purpose and in which forms - let us return to the beginning and see if this legacy from the pasts has changed and how it influences aid today. First of all aid has grown to be a big industry and it has not been possible to keep it insulated from other foreign policy objectives - or domestic policy objectives for that matter.

Commercial interests and employment considerations interfere with development objectives. Aid money is often tied to purchases in the donor country, to support investments from the donor country, to employ personnel from the donor country, and to provide business for consultants. Aid money brings students for training programmes in the donor country; at universities, in industry and on professional courses. Education is also business.

The link between aid and commercial interests has its advantages, eg. by introducing an element of competition and by enabling aid organizations to purchase the services they do not build up internally. It is also natural that a country provides assistance in areas where there is a domestic resource base, as Finnish assistance in forestry, Norwegian assistance in fishing and Danish in agricultural development. But everyone must realize that there is a fundamental difference of interest between those selling their services for the purpose of aid (be they private or public firms, institutions, trade unions or cooperative movements) and the development objectives. That realization must form the base for contractual arrangements between the "selling and buying parties". That is where the aid organizations should have policies for how they intend to handle the differences and turn them into a complementary whole.

But not only organizations have objectives different from aid objectives — so do the people that are employed in the aid business, irrespective of whether they are technical assistance personnel, consultants or programme officers in the aid organizations. People are rarely motivated by some single goal, but they pursue several causes simultaneously. It is even more complex as some motives are open and others are hidden, some are even hidden in the subjects subconscious mind. This must also be realized and must lead to policies in respect of recruitment, personnel administration and retention.

But where exactly is the area of choice when it comes to policy in respect of technical assistance personnel? In which dimensions are such policies formulated? What type of activities and objectives are of concern to such policies? What function should such policies perform? In theory, policies in respect of personnel assistance should have been derived from an idea of why aid is given and what it should achieve, taking into consideration other means of assistance. The policies should serve as a guideline for solving daily problems and for elaborating procedures of work in the aid organizations.

The policies should be the link between strategies and operations; ie. they should interpret how the strategy of the aid organizations should be transformed into action, in this case in respect of technical assistance personnel. If the strategy is confusing and contradictory, it is to be expected that lower level policies exhibit the same characteristics.

6

1.2. Evaluations of technical assistance

As we have seen above technical assistance is an industry in its own right. Considering the size of the industry, and considering the importance of the problem "expatriate effectiveness", one would assume that it has been studied intensely - and indeed so is also the case. The present review is a brief indication of the different approaches to the problem. We would like to indicate where previous research has led to more or less conclusive results, where there is a need for further research, and which areas remain to be explored. It might be useful to distinguish between the following four approaches:

- (1) the "personal characteristics" approach,
- (2) the national development approach
- (3) the institutional approach
- (4) the project evaluation approach.

1.2.1. The "personal characteristics" approach

A hypothesis widely entertained concerning aid, is that it matters very little what organization and projects you have. It is the people that count. Consequently, a number of studies have tried to find what type of people should be employed and how these people could be found. The first studies in this field were made by Harris (1973, 1975) and Tucker (1973, 1974), who in a series of empirical studies of Peace Corps volunteers and U.S. Navy personnel identified 20 dimensions that were related to success on foreign assignments.

The Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA) built on this research and undertook a major evaluation in 1979. The objective was to analyse the concept "overseas effectiveness" and to arrive at a profile of individuals who were effective on overseas assignments. The concept itself was found to

consist of three component parts; intercultural interaction and training, professional effectiveness, and personal/family adjustment and satisfaction. The first, intercultural interaction and training may be described as "adaptation" in the sense of mixing with local people and learning about local culture. The second, professional effectiveness refers to the performance of daily tasks, duties and responsibilities on the job. The third component is related to the capacity for basic satisfaction while living overseas, as an individual and as a family unit.

The CIDA study also gave characteristics of individuals who were effective on overseas assignments. In summary the effective person was above all effective in interpersonal relationships. This was demonstrated through six behaviour patterns: flexibility towards ideas and beliefs of others; respect towards, attentiveness and acknowledgement of others; listening skill and accurate perception of the needs of others; trust, friendliness and cooperation with others; calm and self-control when confronted by obstacles; and sensitivity to cultural differences.

The effective individual was also capable of self-expression, including demonstrated initiative, self confidence with respect to goals, and genuine frankness or honesty. The effective individual had doubts and concerns before departure overseas, but nevertheless expected a rewarding experience.

The CIDA study had a large impact, not least in the Nordic countries. The three components of overseas effectiveness and the indicators have been accepted as the principal criteria for the evaluation of technical assistance personnel. Furthermore, preparatory training courses have been designed to strengthen those areas where Nordic personnel are seen to be weak in respect of the criteria. There are of course modifications, but soon after the appearance of the CIDA report there was even a time when the same questionnaires were used to evaluate Nordic assistance personnel. If nothing else, this could be seen as an indicator of rapid learning in the aid agencies.

The thrust of the report is built on the fact that individuals who tend to fill in the questionnaire in a certain manner, also tend to have a positive view of their own effectiveness. This should raise a number of serious questions about the validity and the reliability of the study - but that will have to be done somewhere else. The consequence for this study is that we will

not take for granted that any general personal characteristics predicting success really exist. We will not try to assess new characteristics either, by and large we will not focus on the individual but rather on the circumstances under which individuals work.

Recently the monthly journal "Look Japan" had a series of articles under the heading "Learning from the West" portraying the individuals who took part in Japans modernization towards the end of the 19th century. Each article described the men, their jobs and their personalities. From the point of view of the Japanese, they were often described as "pushy", hard-working, obnoxious, insensitive to Japanese culture and values, etc. Nevertheless, some 100 years later they are identified as the ones that made significant contributions to the country's modernization. Of course the situation was entirely different from Africa today so we do not want to draw any conclusions that expatriates should be in this way or that - but the japanese articles confirm that the problem is complex. Even though tolerance, sensitivity, etc. are nice characteristics, they are perhaps not always essential for the performance of technical assistance personnel.

1.2.2. The national development approach

In the "host" countries, expatriates are accepted because they provide some service connected to national development objectives. However, there are no studies of the impact of the 80.000 expatriates working in sub-Saharan Africa - but that does not mean that there is no debate.

African media, African intellectuals and politicians often voice their concernaover the negative effects of the presence of large numbers of technical assistance personnel. Alien life styles and destructive consumption patterns are brought to the countries and diffused among the people. The expatriates do not spend money in the country but contribute to an outflow of foreign exchange. They take jobs from qualified nationals, contribute to inflated wages levels and in general create dependencies and maintain neo-colonial linkages.

Most countries, at least in English speaking Africa, coordinate their manpower development policies through some central ministry. But the policies and procedures in this field are difficult to coordinate, particularly as sectoral ministries often negotiate project support directly with foreign aid

organizations. Raphaeli, Roumani and MacKellar (1984) have made one of the few lexisting studies of how national policies of manpower development influence the use of expatriates. Their report builds on an assessment of Botswana's experience. Since Independence, Botswana has had a clear strategy for the recruitment and deployment of expatriates. The Government identifies sectors where foreign personnel are needed, and employs such personnel directly. The point is that the need for assistance is defined in terms of the overall manpower needs of the country, rather than on a sectoral approach — or even on a project by project approach.

Botswana rapidly had local managers take over all the highest policy-making posts. Expatriates are used on the levels below, and they usually are deployed in line positions, rather than as advisers. As the expatriates are employed by the local authorities, they do not have their loyalties divided between an aid agency and national authorities. They are placed in the service structure of the country, and even if their salaries are topped up, they follow local practices.

We suppose that similar studies have been made in other places, but as they are written for local readers they are not easily found in research data banks. It would appear as if comparative studies of national manpower development policies could be a fruitful approach to understanding the effectiveness of expatriates. The same applies to the attitudes of the general population. The climate for acceptance — or rejection — of expatriates would vary with the colonial heritage, the policies and the experience of development since Independence. Such attitudes and policies reinforce each other and develop over time. The consequences for our study are that we will incorporate a comparative study of attitudes, procedures and policies, in respect of utilizing technical assistance personnel in the three countries we are concerned with. It is an area that needs to be explored from the recipient countries' point of view.

1.2.3. The institutional approach

The third approach can be exemplified by Lethem and Coopers report "Managing Project Related Technical Assistance; The Lessons of Success" (1983), and the Storrar missions report on technical assistance (1982). These studies have looked at the institutional factors surrounding an expatriate assignment, such

as the conception and birth of a project, the negotiation process leading to expatriate recruitment, setting terms of reference, etc, up to the end of an assignment. Lethem and Cooper suggest that the success of an assignment depends on three factors in particular:

- (a) The commitment of all parties concerned; that there is an agreement on the need for technical assistance personnel, that the objectives are clear and understood, that the assignment is economically and technically feasible.
- (b) Careful design of the project. Special attention must be given to various modes of delivery, the role of the recipient country staff and technical assistance personnel, and the administrative arrangements.
- (c) The handling of technical assistance as a process and not as a blueprint. The aid agency must interact closely with the technical assistance personnel and should be prepared to change the projects, and in general act as catalysts to ensure that the cooperation between all the stakeholders is maintained.

It should be noted that Coopers and Lethems report is based on a study of successful cooperation. They identify factors that are correlated with success. If we turn to the Storrar mission report instead we find a description of the situation as it appears on many assistance programmes. Let us sum up the major problems:

- (a) Poor coordination of programmes both by donors and recipient countries.
- (b) Inadequate job descriptions.
- (c) Inadequate briefing before starting on a job.
- (d) Lack of career prospects for field staff.
- (e) Poor selection and availability of counterpart staff.
- (h) Inadequacy of local funding.
- (i) Insufficient emphasis on training.
- (j) Poor continuity of technical assistance services.

The general problems outlined in these studies have also been noted in other recent reports such as Cassen (1986). As for the Nordic countries, Rudengren (1976) made a comprehensive study of the results of personnel in aid — a study which also contained a bibliography of previous studies of relevance for East Africa. There is no doubt that previous research in this field has given a full picture of the nature and extent of the problems of technical assistance in general, and particularly of the institutional shortcomings that often surround an expatriate assignment. Some other studies have also focussed on part of the problem, as for example Jacobsen (1985) on the role of expatriates in training programmes for local staff and the qualitative elements of this transfer of knowledge process.

This approach is characterized by its "donor perspective". The studies are primarily concerned with what the aid agencies as institutions can do differently in order to reach the objectives of assistance. As such, we would like to note two main reservations. First, many of the studies are descriptive - they list problems. But the aid agencies learn and during the last five to ten years the policies and procedures that govern technical assistance have changed. It is necessary and interesting to incorporate recent changes in a study of technical assistance. Secondly, some of the reports are normative, but their lessons for success may well be biased. The approach is to call for more active involvement of all parties, more and better planning, more frequent and better monitoring and evaluation, etc. This seem to lead in the direction of more blue-print oriented management and more bureaucratized structures. But rational, scientific management has over the last few decades been severely criticized by Simon (1956), Lindblom (1959) and Morgan (1987)—to mention but a few in the long line of critical organization researchers.

Little of this debate has been applied to the organization of development cooperation. Some studies, for example Forss (1985), suggest that there might be a need to look more closely at the circumstances of decision-making, particularly at the environmental constraints affecting project implementation. There is a balance to strike between effective assistance and sophisticated institutional arrangements beyond which more complicated policies and procedures tend to decrease the effectiveness of assistance.

1.2.4. The project evaluation approach

There is indeed a terrifying amount of project evaluations. We have the whole range of monitoring reports, quarterly-, biannual- and annual project reports, special evaluations, terminal reports, debriefing reports, mass media coverage, research studies, theses, etc. Most contain statements about expatriates working on a project. Personnel is usually such a vital factor that it would be difficult to ignore. But some project evaluations focus more narrowly on personnel, for example Cracknell (1986), but others treat the problem more casually. The latter is most common, and in general does not lead to any deeper understanding of why expatriates are effective, or why not.

It is also likely that the problem is perceived differently within the framework of one project or programme. When a pattern applying to several projects becomes visible, the magnitude of the constraints becomes visible-and the approach to solutions will look different. The more simplistic complaints and solutions would probably be avoided. But it is rare that such cross-project evaluations are undertaken. If they are, it is usually in the form referred to under the sections above.

If we now look at the implications for the present study we would conclude, (1) that there is a need to concentrate on the institutional factors surrounding technical assistance, in particular national manpower development policies and aid agency management, (2) that the main factors that inhibit the effectiveness of expatriates are well known and that there is a need to concentrate on aspects of cooperation that can be changed by the parties, concerned, that is, we have a normative ambition, and (3) that it is important to have a holistic approach, that is, look at the framework of cooperations rather than people and their personal characteristics. Let us now turn to all brief review of why this evaluation was done.

1.3. Objectives of the evaluation

As we have seen all four Nordic countries have a considerable technical assistance personnel component in their development cooperation programmes. None of the countries has so far made a comprehensive evaluation of this component which is, however, considered to play an important role in the realization of their development cooperation objectives.

In order to pool experience and economize with resources the aid agencies decided to undertake a joint evaluation of the technical assistance component of their bilateral development programmes. The aim of technical assistance personnel was defined as follows:

"To assist host countries achieve the desired development of indigenous manpower resources, the sustained development of their institutions, and to contribute to the achievement of other project goals."

Against this background, the main objectives of the evaluation were;

- (1) To evaluate the extent to which the aim of providing technical assistance personnel has been achieved, and to assess other effects, positive and negative.
- (2) To asses the relevance of the Nordic countries technical assistance personnel in relation to the needs as expressed by the host countries.
- (3) To identify the main factors determining success or failure in achieving the aim of providing technical assistance personnel.
- (4) To compare the effectiveness of different categories of technical assistance personnel in achieving the aims, and to consider alternatives.
- (5) To make recommendations regarding factors to be noted and steps to be taken by the Nordic agencies in order to better fulfill the aim of providing technical assistance personnel.

The full elaboration of the terms of reference for the evaluation is found in Annex 1. Let us now turn to a brief account of how the task of evaluating technical assistance personnel was solved.

1.4. Research method

The basic building blocks of the study were two; (1) studies of the national manpower development policies in Kenya, Tanzania and Zambia, and (2) case studies of technical assistance personnel from the Nordic countries in the

STDA

DANTDA

SIDA

same African countries. The studies of national manpower development were carried out to complement the experience of a country like Botswana (cf, above) and find out to what extent the experience from Kenya, Tanzania and Zambia differs, and what could be learnt from each country. We also realize that the effectiveness of expatriates to a large degree depends on the attitudes of the recipient country, and its role in identifying the need for assistance and in ascertaining that the expected transfer of skills will take place.

The case studies form the empirical base of the study. Whether technical assistance personnel are effective or not can only be seen by reference to the purpose of their stay in the country, and that means looking at the whole project, or programme, of assistance. That does not mean that the individuals performance is the same as achievement of project objectives - far from it. But it is only with reference to these objectives that it is possible to start a discussion about the constraints and opportunities for some professional performance. Basically, we do not think it is meaningful to ask persons whether they think they do a good job or not, such statements have a limited reliability.

Each of our case studies has built on four sources of information. First, we have gone through previous evaluation reports, monitoring reports, agreements, and other written information in the aid agencies' files. Second, we have interviewed a sample of the technical assistance personnel working on the projects. The number of interviews depended on the size of the project and the presence of personnel. We tried to include at least one representative from each personnel category (that is, general management, finance and accounting technical personnel, etc.).

Third, we interviewed the local staff, that is counterparts to the expatriates, local management, as well as representatives from higher organizational levels (ministries, regional authorities, etc). In some case studies we included interviews with representatives from target groups, such as womens' groups, harambee groups, or simply individuals affected by the development activities. Our fourth source of information was the aid agencies themselves, or rather the programme officers in charge of the activities.

We selected the following "projects" for our case studies:

1. Tanzania

Telecommunications
Tanzania Bureau of Standards
Tanzania Food and Nutrition Centre
Sector Support - General Education
Health through Sanitation and Water (HESAWA)
Water Resources Institute
Personnel and Consultancies Fund

Tanga Cement Factory
TRC Marine
Ministry of Education - project implementation section
Water development in the southern highlands

Sao Hill saw mill
Rural roads maintenance
Petroleum sector programme
Mbegani Fisheries Development Centre
Water Supply to Rukwa and Kigoma Regions

15

Personnel Fund

Mtwara and Lindi Rural Water Development Project FINNIDA
Fibreboard Africa Ltd
Stamico

Kibaha Educational Centre NORDIC

Kenya

Soil Conservation
Integrated Rural Health - Hospital Maintenance School
Kenya Water Institute
Headquarter Support
Kwahe Area Programme
Eastern Province Area Programme
Kenya Water and Health Organization

Aguthi Water Development DANIDA
Mutomi Soil and Water Conservation Programme
Taita Taveta District Development Programme

Taita Taveta District Development Program Industrial Training Programme Family Life Training Programme Public Telephones Project

Personnel and Consultancies Fund

Minor Urban Water Development Programme NORAD
Kenya Industrial Estates
University of Nairobi - Veterinary Science College

Kenya Finland Rural Water Development Programme FINNIDA
Rural Dairy Development Programme
Industrial Minerals
Kenya Finland Primary Health Care Programme

Nordic Cooperative Project NORDIC Rural Development Programme

Zambia

Nurse Tutor Programme
Agricultural Sector Support Programme, AASP.
Cooperative Development
Ministry of General Education - Planning Unit

Integrated Rural Development Programme
Zambia Cold Storage Cooperation

Village Agricultural Programme
NORAD

Practical Subjects Education Project
Support Programme for Luapula Province
Technical Assistance to ZESCO
Forestry Education and Training Project

We have thus chosen to investigate 55 projects, including 3 "Personnel and Consultancies Fund". The following notes are meant to give an indication of how representative the sample might be from a few different points of view.

Projects according to aid agency and country.

	SIDA	DANTDA	NORAD	FINNIDA	NORDIC	TOTAL
Tanzania	7	4	6	3	1	21
Kenya	8	6	3	4	2	23
Zambia	4	2	1	4	-	11
Total	19	12	10	11	3	55

Projects according to sector and country.

	Tanzania	Кепуа	Zambia	TOTAL
Industry and Mining	5	3	1	9
Water Development	5	8	-	13
Health	1	3	1	5
Education	3	3	3	9
Agriculture and Fishery	1	2	2	5
Infrastructure	4	2	2	8
Integrated Rural Development	-	1	2	3
Personnel Funds	2	1	-	3
TOTAL	21	23	11	55

The aim has been to let the agencies' relative involvement in the three countries be reflected in the selection of projects for case analysis. The same applies concerning the choice of sectors - with due regard to the fact that few projects are easily classified according to a few single categories.

projects according to size and country:

	Tanzania	Kenya	Zambia	TOTA
large (more than 15 TAP at the time)	8	6	3	17
Medium (between 2 and 15 TAP at the time)	9	5	8	22
Small (1 or 2 TAP)	4	8	1	13

Projects according to starting date and country:

	Tanzania	Кепуа	Zambia	TOTAL
Started before 1977	8	6	4	18
Started 1977-1983	10	10	6	26
Started later than 1983	3	3	2	8

As our selection procedure could best be described as a "judgement sample" we have made use of as much knowledge as we have to ascertain that the projects selected are representative of the total population. We have treated the case studies confidentially, they are thus not presented in this report. There are several reasons for this. We do not want to mark projects, persons or aid agencies as good or bad. The interviews often uncovered difficulties in relations between agencies, personnel and national staff. Needless to say, we cannot present confidential information. We are concerned with a summary of the overall patterns concerning technical assistance, and we do not want that pattern to be clouded by details.

In order to supplement the information from the case studies, we designed a written questionnaire which covered the expatriate assignment from the beginning to the end. This questionnaire was mailed to 365 persons who had been employed as technical assistance personnel. We regret to say that the

response rate was very low, only 37 %. The information is therefore difficult to use as we have no background data on the respondents, and we do not know how they relate to the total sample. We do not use this material here, except at a few occasions when the answers do express an unanimous opinion - either confirming or contradicting one of our arguments.

The evaluation team consisted of:

Kim Forss, Team leader, PhD in Business Administration, FIDE AB, Sweden.

John Carlsen, Lecturer in Development Economics, The University of Alborg, Dermark.

Egil Fröyland, Educationist, Statens yrkespedagogiske högskole, Norway.

Taimi Sitari, Social Geographer, Researcher at the Institute of Development Studies at the University of Helsinki, Finland.

Knud Vilby, Development Journalist, Dermark.

The study of national manpower development policies was subcontracted to:

Professor Mwesiga Baregu, the University of Dar-es-Salaam, Professor Oliver Saasa, the University of Zambia, Mr. Mukhisa Kituyi, M.Sc., the Chr. Michelsen Institute in Bergen.

Our work started in January 1987 with an outline of the method, drafting terms of reference for subcontracted research, establishing a framework for interviews and selecting case studies. In February we held a workshop in Nairobi with a selected number of Nordic assistance personnel for the purposes of generating ideas on the problem, and get the opinions of field personnel at an early stage. We also conducted four case studies in Kenya as a pilot study to assess our interview framework and to develop a joint approach to the interview situation.

Between March and August we did the remaining case studies, each of which took between one and two weeks depending on the circumstances. The team met in September for a joint analysis of the cases, and for a review of the subcontracted research tasks. During the September meetings we decided on the structure and content of the final report which was then written during October. A draft report was submitted to the aid agencies in November, and the final report was completed in January 1988. The process of the study has thus been quite intense. The data material encompasses more than 800 interviews in connection to the 55 cases, plus an extensive list of reading on each case, as well as wider reference material.

1.5 Structure of the report

The results of the evaluation are presented in chapters 2 to 9, and chapter 10 contains our recommendations to the Nordic donor agencies. The reader will find our answers to the objectives in these chapters which constitute the main body of the report. In addition we present studies of national manpower development policies, host country attitudes, and the experience of Nordic TAP in a number of specific sectors of interest. These sections are presented in Annex 2, 3, and 4. The differences between agency employed TAP and consultant TAP are the subject of Annex 5.

The structure of the main text of the report (chapters 2 to 10) follows the terms of reference (Annex 1). We start by discussing the need for technical assistance in chapter 2. This exposition largely builds on the special studies in annex 2, 3, and 4. The reader who wishes to pursue any of the problems regarding manpower development from the nations point of view should read these annexes in direct connection to chapter 2. In the main text follows sections on the dimensions of effectiveness of TAP and the TAP component of projects (chapters 3 and 4). These sections treat the identification of TAP components, the integration between different elements of assistance, and the achievements in terms of the different objectives of assistance.

Having studied the TAP component of projects and the achievements, we return to the host country point of view. This is presented in chapter 5. The subject is treated more comprehensively in Annex 2, 3, and 4 - where the differences between Kenya, Tanzania and Zambia are also clearly visible. Chapter 6 introduces a discussion of consultant versus agency TAP. The subject is also

treated in annex 5. The reader who is particularly interested in the subject could proceed directly to the annex as all points are elaborated there.

Chapter 7 is a review of all the factors concerning administration that affect TAP. The exposition follows a normal project cycle; from recruitment, preparatory training, arriving in the field, backstopping to debriefing and returning home. It briefly touches on problems such as language skills, job situation for spouse and the modes of operation of aid agencies. Chapter 8 discusses the alternatives to TAP. These alternatives are mainly seen as training, short-term consultancies and local project implementation (with a number of different ways of implementing each). Chapter 9 contains a discussion of the cost and effectiveness of TAP and alternatives. We can present information on the cost of alternatives, but the discussion of effectiveness only concerns TAP.

Chapter 10 finally contains conclusions and recommendations. We have grouped 30 recommendations that are particularly important around our observation of 8 different problem areas.

There are some special features concerning the structure of the report:

- (1) In general the chapters follow a pattern of observation, analysis, conclusion and recommendations. This is present in all chapters, but in chapters 2, 5 and 9 this organizes the whole chapters, but in the others it is a framework for discussion at the level of different sections in the chapters.
- (2) Each chapter has a summary towards the end which contains the most important observations and the major recommendations (except chapter 7, where the summaries are found after each section).
- (3) It is difficult to do justice to the empirical material. We often quotes case studies to illustrate a point. We never have a complete review of a case. This may mean that a project only is cited for what is negative, but there is no mention of positive aspects or of problems overcome. Many readers could feel offended by the presentation of their activities. But that would be a misdirected reaction. Our concern is not to evaluate projects but a phenomenon which is larger and more complex. Our references to projects should be seen in this context.

2. THE NEED FOR TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE

2.1 Observations

2.1.1. Generalities

The need for foreign specialist will always be there in any society at any time.

It differs in magnitude as well as in skill composition between countries as well as between sectors in the individual country. It changes over time depending among other things upon development politics and priorities as well as the time perspective itself involved in the development planning and priority setting process.

2. Manpower planning and manpower development policies as well as educational policies in general are key policy instruments determining a society's availability of the human resources required for its development.

The manpower plan based upon a manpower survey identifies the need for training and the manpower development plan implements the necessary training programmes.

- 3. However, the need for additional trained manpower is itself partly a reflection of past policies and partly a consequence of national and sectoral development plans and policies.
- 4. These factors determine the demand and supply of various categories of skilled manpower in the different sectors of society.
- 5. But in addition development policies and administrative traditions and practices determine to what extent local manpower is required and is available for development projects/programmes in the public sector.

On the one hand, the governments of developing countries tend to get involved (and often exclude private companies from participation) in economic sectors and activities, which in the Nordic countries are performed by private companies. Thereby, the demand for highly skilled and qualified government personnel increases.

On the other hand, the governments in Kenya, Tanzania and Zambia pursue employment policies that make it very difficult to attract, utilize, develop and retain talented trained young people.

Salaries and fringe benefits are important elements of government employment policies. Equally important however, are personnel policies and personnel management in government offices and public sector undertakings.

6. Also the development policies and practices of the Nordic donor agencies influence the supply of as well as the demand for skilled manpower and consequently the need for TAP.

Whenever a group of donors identify a priority sector of assistance such as for example water in Kenya and Tanzania or agriculture in Zambia, it means that more projects will be initiated and more skilled manpower of various categories will be required.

To the extent that donors are project rather than programme/sector oriented in their development approach — as is often the case with relatively small donors — projects tend to be planned and implemented without due consideration to the present and future availability and need for trained people to implement, operate and maintain all the projects in the sector. This often results in the creation of a demand for future TAP.

- More directly, donor practices may create a demand for TAP. This is the case when the specific requirements of donor agencies and its personnel, such as:
 - . the pursuance of specific development objectives
 - successful project implementation in accordance with project plan of operations,
 - and the accountability of the donor agency vis a vis financial authorities in the donor country,

lead to the posting of TAP in positions as <u>controllers</u> in order to see that objectives are being pursued, projects are being implemented in time and funds properly accounted for.

Some of these TAP are posted because donor agencies feel that the Government system in the recipient country is less efficient or simply cannot be trusted. In order to implement projects many donor agencies have developed their own organizations staffed with TAP, parallel to existing government institutions simply because it was felt that project implementation and project funds could not be trusted with existing government institutions.

2.1.2. Country Specific Factors

2.1.2.1. Availability of trained local manpower - Common features in Kenva. Tanzania and Zambia

The manpower situation in Kenya, Tanzania and Zambia are thoroughly discussed in Annex II-IV of this report.

Immediately after Independence the African governments engaged themselves in a rapid expansion of primary and secondary schools, as well as technical education and vocational training. By the 1980's all three countries had seen a significant quantitative growth in education. Secondary schools certificates ceased to provide a secure access to jobs and/or further education in the 70'es and in the 80'es the problem of finding useful jobs for all university graduates slowly emerged.

At present there are unemployed/underemployed university graduates in Kenya as well as in Tanzania and Zambia, but the mampower situation in general as well as in different sectors and professional categories differs between the three countries. From our country studies as well as our TAP project case studies we may conclude that the three countries have trained a sufficient number of people in such areas as general administration and accounting, as well as lower level technicians (certificate and diploma holders) for construction work, water development and agricultural development, most infrastructure jobs such as road construction, telecommunication and transport services. For most social services i.e. school teachers and nurses a high number of people have been trained but due to the rapid population growth the need can hardly be said to be fully covered although few established positions remain vacant and it is difficult to find jobs in the exact priority areas of job seekers. In the case of the manufacturing sector the need for specialised skills at the

level of technicians is still by and large uncovered although there a_{Te} differences between Kenya on the one hand and Tanzania and Zambia on the other.

However, at managerial level as well as higher level technicians and professionals the three countries alike are short of skilled and in particular of skilled and experienced manpower required for strategic management, institution building and creative planning and development. Kenya, probably has a higher supply of these categories of people than Tanzania and Zambia. However, in Kenya this talent is attracted by the much better paid and much more challenging job opportunities offered by private sector companies among which multinational companies offer very interesting carrier options for young Kenyan professionals.

In general we may therefore conclude that there is still a shortage of skills and experienced manpower in these categories for these particular - but very crucial jobs - in Kenya, Tanzania and Zambia.

2.1.2.2. The need for TAP - the case of Kenya

a. The present manpower situation

The Directorate of Personnel Management in the Office of the President, which is in charge of hiring qualified personnel as well as coordination and facilitation of pre-service and in service training, has undertaken manpower surveys in order to establish the need for training and manpower developments. The basic survey undertaken in 1979 is continuously being updated as the basic for decision making.

Theoretically the manpower surveys form the basis for the identification of the need for TAP in Kenya and the Directorate of Personnel Management is supposed to approve request for TAP from ministries before such requests are forwarded to the donors.

In practice, however, the planning and coordination from the Directorates Personnel Management has been very weak and it is the Sectoral Ministries sugas Ministry of Agriculture, Ministry of Health, etc., which should be credited with the rapid increase in the number of trained people at certificate and diploma level in Kenya.

Even if the last basic manpower survey was undertaken in 1979 a simple projection of the data in the survey underlines that Kenya has become or is soon becoming self-sufficient in most areas at certificate, diploma and even in some categories at post graduate levels. (See chapter 2 in the Kenya Country case study table 1, table 2 and table 3). At these levels there seems to be no further need for TAP as gap-fillers.

The future challenge is one of quality more than quantity. There is a need for upgrading of skills (certificate holders to become diploma holders, etc.) and not the least for providing relevant job experience for young professionals in the form of practical exercises as part of the training as well as suitable on the job training programmes as part of coherent staff development policies.

b. Availability of skilled manpower for the public sector

The Government in Kenya finds it increasingly difficult, however, to attract skilled people to public sector jobs and to retain the talented people once they have received some experience and perhaps some further training.

The private sector in Kenya continues to grow relatively fast and they can often offer better paid jobs, better carrier prospects and more job satisfaction.

Many ministries and public undertakings suffer from very weak personnel management.

Young university graduates are not properly introduced to their jobs, there is little delegation of authority, promotion is not always granted on the basis of merit and since there will be no or very slow growth in the public sector for many years due to the budget constraint, well educated young people see little prospects for utilizing their abilities in the Government sector.

With a few exceptions the management style in the Civil Service is one of Crisis Management through command and control. This management style is unsuitable for solving the structural problems of the Kenyan Economy in the 90's and it will make it difficult to attract and retain educated, talented young people.

In our opinion it is the poor personnel management rather than the lack of qualified people or the relatively low salary which explains that some ministries continue to have vacant positions in their establishment.

c. Kenyan motives for requesting TAP

From a Kenyan point of view, a number of departments, especially in the Ministry of Agriculture, the Manpower Development policies appear to have attained a relatively high level of success. This is seen as a background to the President's announcement early 1987 that no more TAP would be recruited onto development projects in agriculture.

If non-availability of local manpower for public sector jobs was the only reason a Kenyan Departmental Head could have for requesting TAP, the present number of TAP in implementing jobs would seem illogical.

Naturally this is not the case. A Departmental Head can have several reasons to request for TAP assistance even when local manpower is available. The following is just a few examples mentioned by Kenyan Civil Servants:

- . Shortage of established post. The TAP enables him to expand his professional staff beyond the limits of Government Budget constraints.
- . The TAP brings development projects (The TAP is seen as an integrated part of Development Assistance).
- . The TAP is often more experienced and can therefore do the job faster.

2.1.2.3. The need for TAP - the case of Tanzania

a. The present manpower situation

As part of the First Five Year Plan (1965) Tanzania announced its "Policy of employment of Non-citizens" confining the recruitment of expatriates to those areas where there was a proved absence of a local candidate.

But from the beginning of the economic crisis in 1978, long term manpower planning gave way to short term crisis management, focusing on partial problems and solutions. The issue of expatriate manpower faded into the background in Tanzania and there are no longer any official policy setting dates when foreign manpower will no longer be needed.

The present manpower situation is less well documented in Tanzania than is the case in Kenya and Zambia. The evaluation mission is not aware of any recent overall manpower survey documenting the annual output and requirements for various categories of skilled manpower. Some sectoral surveys have been undertaken by individual donors, but no coordination has taken place neither with the Ministry of Labour and Manpower Development nor between donors.

However, local manpower <u>has</u> been trained and <u>is</u> available for a number of the jobs that are today filled by TAP in various sectors such as agriculture, water development and road transport, just to mention a few.

Thus, in 1983/84 more than 2.000 students were enrolled in certificate and diploma training courses in Business administration, accountancy and stores management and 439 were enrolled at the same level as water and road construction technicians, sectors were a high number of Nordic TAP are concentrated.

At undergraduate level at the university of Dar es Salaam 630 engineering students and 423 students of Agriculture, Veterinary, Forestry and Geology were enrolled in the same year.

b. Availability of skilled manpower for the public sector

The problems of attracting, utilizing and retaining skilled manpower in the public sector is far more serious in Tanzania than in Kenya and Zambia.

The reason for this, however, is not the higher pay offered by the private sector since this alternative is non-existent in Tanzania in many of the skill categories concerned. It is the very low purchasing power of the present government salaries, that makes it impossible even for a University professor to cover the cost of living for his family from his salary, which is the main problem.

This means that skilled manpower only seeks public sector employment when there is no alternative, when fringe benefits are substantial or/as a supplement to private or informal sector income generating activities. Consequently, the highly skilled people in the public sector are very inefficient partly because they have very little recurrent funds to work with, and partly because they spend part of their working day generating additional income.

c. Tanzania motives for requesting TAP

The issue of having the sectoral ministry requesting the Donors for Tap through the Ministry of Labour and Manpower Planning has become a futile formality in Tanzania. TAP is no longer requested by the recipient because there is no local manpower available, but simply because TAP brings "all those things needed to continue business as usual" i.e. vehicles, equipment and funds for recurrent cost and maintenance.

2.1.2.4. The need for TAP - the case of Zambia

a. The present manpower situation

The Manpower Planning and Research Division (MPRD) of the National Commission of Development Planning is at the centre of manpower development in Zambia. The main objective of MPRD is to undertake comprehensive national manpower planning, which includes labour market analysis and manpower supply and demand projections. It is also responsible for the coordination of the country's training institutions.

Several constraints affect performance of MPRD. Paradoxically it lacks sufficient and appropriate manpower to effect its planning and coordinating functions. In June, 1987 6 cut of 7 senior strategic positions were vacant: Many of the staff were also reported to be junior, with no relevant background related to manpower analysis (Segerström, 1986). The net product is that the government's policy is still quite confused, and that manpower development and employment still lack coordination.

But there is also a second institution directly responsible for national manpower development; the Directorate of Manpower Development and Training (DMOT) which is under the Cabinet Office. Its role is to establish a cadre of manpower development officers seconded to ministries and provinces, to administrate training awards, establish a policy on training of civil servants, and to allocate funds for manpower development. It is the complementary to the MPRD, but in practice their tasks overlap, particularly in the absence of national policy. DMOT also face the same constraining regarding its own manpower development as MPRD does.

The present availability and need for various categories of skilled manpower is well documented through a study undertaken by UNDP complemented by the zambia Country Case study of this Evaluation (see Annex 4).

Like in Kenya and Tanzania there has been a rapid expansion at all levels in the education sector since Independence. Zambia differs, however, in the sense that the severe economic crisis and the needed attempts at restructuring have led to a decrease in spending in the education sector since 1974 by approximately 40% (in current prices). Consequently, the capacity as well as the quality of the educational sector have been negatively effected. As an example the enrollment for technical colleges and technical training institutions as well as at secondary school teachers' colleges declined between 1979 and 1986.

In general terms, therefore, the availability of local manpower as an alternative to TAP looks less promising in Zambia than in Kenya and Tanzania.

In the agricultural sector, however, which has high priority with the Government of Zambia and the Nordic Donor Development Assistance Programmes alike, the situation continues to improve. A manpower survey undertaken by a SIDA TAP in the manpower section in the Department of Agriculture, Ministry of Agriculture and Water Development shows that Zambia will soon be self-sufficient in professional manpower in this sector at medium level i.e. certificate and diploma level.

b. Availability of skilled manpower for the public sector

From our case studies and interviews with senior civil servants it appears that the public sector is seriously affected by a low working morale.

In brief this means that officers are not very efficient, but it also means that like in Tanzania it is difficult to attract and retain qualified Zambians to public sector employment. To illustrate this point it suffices to mention that Zambia Consolidated Copper Mines Limited — a parastatal which is responsible for over 90% of the country's export receipts in 1984/85 had 331 vacant positions including such as accountants and technicians that are in surplus in the local market.

UNDP, Restructuring and Development in Zambia Roles for Technical Cooperation, New York 1986.

.

The reasons for the difficulties of attracting and retaining qualified people are basically the same as in Kenya and Zambia:

- . The scheme of service (salaries, fringe benefits and promotion possibilities).
- . The lack of funds for recurrent cost in the public sector.
- . The more remunerative and challenging opportunities in the private sector (or abroad).

But in addition the public debate about the need to reduce the salary cost in the public sector by reducing the numbers of government employees as part of the new economic reforms have created uncertainty and a low working morale.

c. Zambian motives for requesting TAP

Many TAPs in Zambia are working as gap fillers in established vacant positions to which it has not been possible to attract qualified Zambian professionals for the reasons mentioned above.

To the Zambian Heads of Departments interviewed, though, the significance of the Nordic TAP was not primarily their manpower and skill but the "things!" they bring i.e. funds for recurrent costs, equipment and first and foremost vehicles.

2.1.3. Donor motives

For the purpose of this evaluation the four Nordic Development Assistance agencies have defined the overall aim of TAP as follows:

to assist host countries achieve

- the desired development of indigenous manpower resources
- the sustained development of their institutions and
- to contribute to the achievement of other project goals.

Thus, according to this definition, the provision of TAP may be seen as reflection of a need - felt by recipients and donors - for added knowledge management capability and dynamics in the development process.

There is no doubt that this is seen as the main aim of Development Assistance by Policy makers in the four Nordic Countries. However, the implementation of policies will always be affected by more pragmatic motives and constraints as seen by the administrators at the various levels in the Aid organizations.

2.1.3.1 The Project Approach - Consequences for TAP

Firstly, somewhat poor results in terms of physical achievements experienced by most donors in development programmes in many African countries in the 1970's have resulted in a change of the approach to Development Assistance from sector/programme support to project support. The donors want to know, where their money goes, and to see that "their" project becomes a success.

This means that among the three main aims for providing Development Assistance in the form of TAP, the role as implementors has been given priority vis a vis the long term aims of training and institution building.

But it also means that partial solutions are sought rather than comprehensive ones. The result has been that more projects are initiated in a sector such as for example water development in Kenya, than the local implementation capacity can justify (without attempting to develop this capacity) that more TAP is required and that the operational and maintenance requirements of the projects create a demand for additional TAP. A number of project cases presented in chapter 4 below illustrate this point.

2.1.3.2. Accountability and the Need for Control

As a consequence of the project approach to Development Assistance donors have felt that it was necessary to establish special procedures and sometimes even special institutional set ups in order to secure efficient implementation.

The appropriation in aid systems by which the donor takes over the functions of the recipient as far as procurement of material and cost accounting and control are concerned, has become the rule rather than the exception in Kenya, Tanzania and Zambia in the early 80's.

In its extreme version the donor has taken over the full responsibility of implementation and set up its own organization parallel to and not integrated into the local government system.

In such projects TAP's become not just implementors, they also become controllers and they perform administrative and support functions as procurement officers, store keepers, accountants, copy typists, automobile mechanics and even drivers for which there is ample supply of local manpower.

The donor motives for the TAP controller is a combination of a need to show results in the form of efficient project implementation and a distrust in the ability of the local system and its people.

Examples of projects implemented in this fashion and the impact upon training is given below in chapter 3.4 and 7.

But also some sector support Development Assistance Programmes have TAP, whose basic task is to monitor/control that funds, equipment and manpower are utilized according to the development cooperation agreement between donor and recipient. In cases such as the SIDA and NORAD assistance to Zambia's agricultural sector with emphasis on rural women it became quite clear that the female TAP's were seen by the Zambian Heads of Departments as a donor conditionality. TAP, who are not requested and not wanted by the recipient organization, have little scope for contributing to positive institutional development.

2.1.3.3. TAP as the secure. easy option

Development projects are risky projects by nature. They are often attempts to start new activities or to expand activities into new environments. The only method existing is that of "trial and error" and success ratios of more than 30% must be considered very satisfactory.

From a development point of view the important aspects of all development work is the ability to learn from ones mistakes and therefore to set institutional frame works that facilitate institutional learning.

From an administrative point of view, however, things often look quit different. The administrator in the development organization may see a "good project as one which does not create too many problems.

There are a number of cases in our sample of Nordic assisted development projects designed by development consultants with few TAP or without any, which end up with a substantial TAP component due to the attitude of risk avoidance which is prevalent among most development assistance administrators in the Nordic donor organizations.

2.1.3.4. Practice of Individual Donors

The above mentioned factors have influenced the Nordic Donor Agencies' views regarding the availability of qualified local manpower and the need for TAP in general. But in the absence of a systematic approach to assessing the need for TAP, the judgement of individual aid administrators has often been decisive in determining the actual TAP component in specific aid projects/programmes. This "individual element" should not be underestimated.

The four Nordic Donor Agencies do have different approaches that bear upon the identification of the need for TAP. A few of our observations are listed below

2.1.3.4.1 DANTDA

The DANIDA budget for TAP is included neither in the country programming nor in the budgeting for single development projects of the recipient country. This means that TAP is "free" to the recipient.

This fact has been used as an argument by DANIDA programme officers aiming at fast implementation and control in cases, where for example Kenyan Officials have pointed out that local manpower was available and that there was no programme for TAP.

To DANIDA Zambia is not considered a priority aid recipient. The are working either in Zambia Government Institutions, on project other donors or in parastatals assisted with Danish equiparties. Danish State Loans.

For the last three years this system has function identification of the need for TAP has always Authorities, and the TAP are placed in position real need.

2,1.3.4.2 FINNIDA

Compared to other Nordic Aid Agencies FINNIDA has a relatively small staff. The FINNIDA missions in Dar es Salaam, Nairobi and Lusaka do not have the capacity to identify the need for TAP on specific projects. Consequently, this is left to appraisal missions undertaken by private companies or institutions, Often the implementation of the projects identified has been left to the same company/institution. This has resulted in some projects implemented outside the local government institutions, with relatively many TAP with functions for which local manpower is readily available. (One example is the Rural Water Supply Development Project in the Western Province Kenya). The fee received by Finnish companies/institutions for administration of Development Assistance Projects are often related to the number of the TAP component, which they have no incentive to reduce.

2.1.3.4.3. NORAD

Judging from our case studies NORAD is in the process of changing policy/ practice regarding the TAP component of projects.

In the first half of the 80's NORAD seems to have been dominated by implementation oriented efficiency seekers (many NORAD desk officers are engineers). In this period NORAD moved from programme/sector support to project orientation and NORAD TAP became implementors and controllers. (Examples are Minor Urban Water Project in Kenya and Rural Roads maintenance project in Tanzania). It should also be mentioned that administrative weaknesses led to severe implementation problems, which, from the point of view of NORAD, necessited a closer financial control of the projects.

Since 1985 the budget systems and the financial control systems have been improved, particularly in Kenya. As a consequence NORAD has been prepared to let the recipient countries increase their control of funds, particularly in Kenya. NORAD's attitude towards TAP seems to have changed. "The recipient organization/country have to prove that they really need the TAP". This is the way, it was stated by a NORAD desk officer in Lusaka. In line with this change in attitude the TAP component on several projects in Kenya and Zambia was cut drastically during 1987. (On Minor Urban Water Project - Kenya for 14 to 4 TAP in 6 months).

2.1.3.4.4. SIDA

SIDA has maintained a strong sector approach to development in its development assistance programme as exemplified by the support for water development (including the institutionalized training of water technicians) in Kenya and Tanzania, the agricultural sector support programme in Zambia as well as the regional soil conservation programme covering five East African countries. In the areas of water and agriculture TAP has been and continues to be involved in implementation and control as well as training and institution building — a comprehensive approach has been attempted.

In the soil conservation programme the emphasis has been on institution building and as we shall argue later the result has been very impressive.

2.1.3.4.5. Joint Nordic (Scandinavian Projects)

Those joint projects were included in our sample - The Rural Development Fund and the Nordic Cooperative Project (both in Kenya) and the Kibaha Education Centre in Tanzania.

TAP in the Rural Development Fund are basically involved in institution building as part of the decentralization reform for rural development.

The Nordic Cooperative Project is the largest ever TAP project in which the Nordic countries have been involved. The Nordic Cooperative Project has since the inception in 1967 consumed 600 manyears making it the largest Nordic programme ever. Our mission has benefitted from an independent evaluation of the technical assistance personnel to the programme from 1986 by Dr. P.O. Alila and Dr. B.E. Cracknell.

The most successful feature of the programme has been institution building through standardization of accounting procedures, the expansion of cooperative credit and banking and the establishment of training system including the cooperative college.

The joint Nordic programme has created continuity and consistency in a sector where competing donors could easily encourage divergent approaches.

A problem area in the programme was a widespread malpractice and selfseeking, often linked to political manipulation. Areas for needed improvements would be better sector planning and statistics and improved monitoring, evaluating measures.

According to Alila and Cracknell the programme now has reached a watershed where the programme should shift from general support to concentration on assistance by highly qualified professionals in specialized fields; training of trainees being one identified area of priority. Furthermore, the researchers argued that financial assistance will count more than technical assistance in the future.

The TAP component in the cooperative programme in Kenya has been reduced to eight professionals in 1987. The recruitment of experienced TAP to the programme has been notably good. Since 1983 only one out of eighteen TAP has been recruited without previous experience in developing countries - many had worked in the programme. The large recruitment base demonstrates one benefit accruing from massive sector support on a joint Nordic basis.

The cooperative programme has been a Government-to-Government cooperation. In May, 1987 a review mission recommended to strengthen the Movement-to-Movement component of the programme. This should be taken as an indication of successful institution building of the cooperative movement in Kenya.

2.1.4. Presentation of the Case Studies

The evaluation mission has studied the actual posting of TAP in the case studies undertaken in Kenya, Tanzania and Zambia in order to assess to what extent they reflected real and perceived needs.

As shown in the next section local manpower could have been made available for some of the posts filled by TAP and concrete cases are discussed in the section case studies of water, agriculture and education in the country reports in the annexes to this report as well as in chapters below.

The donor agencies have started to realize this and during 1987 a lotal effort and innovative thinking was going on resulting in recruitment and deployment of local manpower in previous TAP positions - particularly in Kern and to lesser degree Zambia. Examples of this recent development are given the last paragraph of this section.

2.1.4.1. Summary of case studies

The results regarding the identification of the need for TAP and the availability of local manpower are summarized in the table 3.1 below.

A total of 324 TAP - of which 13 women - were employed on the five case studies of ongoing projects undertaken by this evaluation mission in the period May - August, 1987. (For a discussion of methodology see chapter 1.

As can be seen from line 3 in table 2.1 only in 45% of the cases did the donor agency undertake an investigation of the availability of local manpower for the positions later filled by TAP as part of the project - appraisal/preparation.

In 56% of the cases, the need for TAP were identified not by the recipient country, but by the donor. In 64% of the cases the TAP were placed either in new organizations set up by the donors for the sake of project implementation (13%), or in special institutional arrangements (for example A-in-A procedures) within existing organizations in order to secure donor control.

65% of TAP in the projects were implementors, 17% were controllers on behalf of the donor agencies and only 11% and 7% were trainers and institution builders, respectively.

For each of the positions occupied by TAP on the 58 projects the availability of local manpower was investigated by the evaluation team. The results are shown in line 7 in table 2.1.

For 59% of the TAP positions there were a shortage of skill in the local labour market, although for 63% of the positions local manpower would be available at the market rate of the private sector. However, at the terms offered in the public sector only 48% of the positions could have been filled by local candidates. In other words for almost 50% of the jobs occupied by TAP suitable local candidates could have been made available. This would require that the donor expectations for efficiency, control and certainty of proper implementation could have been solved by reforming the managerial, administrative and accounting systems of the recipient organizations/countries.

Table 2.1 Evaluation of Local Manpower in relation to TAP positions in North Development Assistance Project

	Total	Kenya	Tanzania	Zambia
1. Number of project cases	55	23	21	11 - 2:
2. Number of TAP	324	90	172	62
Of which female	13	4	7	2
3. <u>Investigation of availability of YES local manpower</u> NO	25 30	9 14	9 12	7 4
4. Who identified need for TAP? Donor Recipient Jointly	31 5 19	16 0 7	11 3 7	4 2 5
5. Organization of TAP assistance: a) Existing institution b) New arrangement in Existing set-up c) Donor organization	21 28 7	9 13 2	6 12 3	6 3 2
6. Nature of Job of TAP a) Implementation b) Institution building c) Training d) Control	210 23.5 34.5 56	42 14 14 20	130 4.5 19 18.5	38 ~ 5 1.5 17.5
7. Availability of local manpower a) Labour market situation (i) surplus (ii) deficit b) General availability (i) YES (ii) NO	133 191 204 120	32 58 59 31	64 108 101 71	37 25 44 18
c) Availability for public sector (i) YES (ii) NO	155 169	49 41	91 81	15 47

2.1.4.2 Examples of "best practice"

The evaluation mission has been searching for elements in the existing 55 project cases pointing at ways and means of solving the apparent conflict between the need to employ local personnel whenever available instead of TAP and the donor requirements in terms of accountability and successful project implementation.

A few examples are given below:

SIDA TAP assistance to manpower planning in the agricultural Example No. 1: sector in Zambia has made it possible to identify bottlenecks where additional training efforts and institutional development is required.

> SIDA TAP assistance to the Soil Conservation Branch of the Ministry of Agriculture in Kenya since 1976 has made it possible to develop the institutional capacity of Kenya in this area by long term planning involving staff development and institutional development with a very modest TAP component extremely well supported by long staying professional desk officers in the STDA mission, Nairobi.

> STDA TAP assistance to Kenya Water Institute is gradually making Kenya self-sufficient in water technicians. The present TAP are concentrating on institution building in order to make the curriculum more oriented towards practical experience by including a six months traineeship period for Kenyan trainees to get acquainted with practical work attached to water projects under implementation. The TAP component is giving an important contribution to the development of the local manpower resource base.

Example No. 4: A STDA TAP assistance programme to Tanzania Bureau of Standards implemented and administered by the similar institution in Sweden - Swedish International Standards is an example of the establishment of an institutional frame work, that has facilitated a gradual, flexible transfer of

Example No. 2:

Example No. 3:

know-how within a professional environment of mutual understanding and trust - with a very modest combination of TAP and short term consultants.

Example No. 5:

The FINNIDA assisted Rural Dairy Development Programme has been very innovative in finding ways of retaining qualified locals trained by the programme. The Kenya Veterinary Officer studied on scholarship in Finland for a number of years. He came back as a Veterinary Officer in the project area of the Rural Dairy Development Programme, but since he became heavily involved in general administration he could not substitute the Finnish TAP. FINNIDA then - in agreement with the Kenyan Authorities - employed the Kenyan Officer. He stayed in the same office, received better pay, better access to transport and recurrent funds, was relieved of his administrative duties and could concentrate on the professional job for which he was trained.

Example No. 6:

In cases when authorities have not agreed to have civil servants paid by donors on special schemes of services it has been possible to attract qualified locals on a topping up arrangement or by employing local professionals as consultants. In the last case the local professional is employed by the donor agency outside the local government system.

There are many such examples. In Kenya: DANIDA's Mutomo So and Water conservation, FINNIDA's Rural Water Supplevelopment Project in Western Kenya. In Zambia: DANIDA's IRDP and NORAD's VAP in Kasama. In such cases where local professionals substitute TAP's not working in establish posts in Government it must of course be made clear the such positions are temporary in the same manner as T positions would be.

2.2. Analysis of country studies and project cases

2.2.1. Availability of local manpower and the need for TAP

From the observations above and in particular from table 2.1 it became evident that TAP were posted to jobs for which local manpower is available. There are several reasons for this:

- Neither donor agencies nor recipient country authorities have a clear picture of the availability of local mampower in the various professional categories. The situation seems to be worse in Tanzania than in Zambia, where the UNDP study has provided a good general review, and in Kenya, where the sectoral ministries appear to have a fair view of the situation.
- Only in 25 out of the 55 project cases examined by the evaluation team did the appraisal report/project preparation include any examination of the availability of local manpower. But even in those cases, the analysis was often superficial.
- Professional manpower may be available in a particular category, but only if salaries, scheme of service and job satisfaction in the particular job is comparable to the conditions in the private sector.

While local manpower would be available for as many as 204 of the 324 TAP jobs at conditions prevailing in the market, the number is reduced to 155 on the terms and conditions that are offered at present for the particular job in the public sector.

Donors have their own motives for employing TAP which has nothing to do with the availability of local manpower. In 31 out of 55 cases the need for TAP was identified by the donor who wanted efficient implementation under his full control and accountability of his "own staff". Consequently, donors have set up their own organizations (in 7 cases) or have imposed special procedures upon recipient government organizations, which put TAP in charge of procurement and accounts (in 28 cases). As a result TAP are performing jobs as implementors, administrators and accountants for which there is a surplus of trained local people (133 out of 234 TAP jobs where in areas with ample local supply of manpower).

 Many unnecessary TAP "were also found on projects implemented by private companies/institutions whose administration fee (overhead companies) are lated to number of TAP rather than the fulfillment of overall project objectives.

2.2.2. The role of TAP

We saw in section 2.1.2. above that Kenya, Zambia and Tanzania amparticularly short of trained and experienced engineers, experienced trainers and innovative managers with experience in staff development and institution building.

However, most of the TAP provided by the Nordic Donor Agencies are implementors (technicians and engineers at diploma level). They do have very relevant theoretical as well as practical experience as implementors.

The second most important category of TAP are controllers. They may be trained as administrators and accountants but most of them are highly skilled professionals, who, however, in their TAP positions spend part of their time as messengers, drivers, typists, accountants and administrators. The TAP often have title of project team leaders or project coordinators. An analysis of how they spend their time shows that they are in fact project administrators tied up in routine work with little time for strategic thinking and institutional development.

Only 58 of 324 TAP were full time involved in training, staff development and institutional development - the sort of jobs which - if conducted successful - can expect to satisfy the objectives of TAP as defined by the Nordic Agencies themselves.

But why then are these TAP accepted by the recipient governments? The answis quite simple: Firstly, they are not always accepted. In a few cases donot have used their discretion and good contacts to have TAP positions and candidates approved by "short cutting" the government procedures.

Secondly, they may be accepted by the project organization simply because otherwise there would be no project. This is the case of the TAP controller. He is a conditionality.

Thirdly, TAP are always welcome because of what they bring. Kenya, Tanzania and Zambia are alike going through difficult financial periods. The public sector is short of funds for recurrent cost and maintenance.

In such a situation, a TAP, who brings equipment such as photocopying facilities, type writers, personal computers and vehicles, is always welcomeprovided he is willing to share.

Finally, African Heads of Department are mostly well educated, open minded, hospitable people. When donor agency personal argue that TAP are necessary in order to secure "safe" implementation of a project at no extra cost to the project itself, why should he object. After all Nordic professionals are generally more experienced than their African colleagues and can function as catalysts. Some transfer of know-how may occur and some young civil servants may learn from watching and being exposed to "the expert".

2.2.3. Conclusions and recommendations

From the analysis above we must conclude that the aim of TAP as defined by the Nordic Agencies in the ToR for this evaluation has not been fulfilled to a satisfactory degree. But we have also seen that the situation is not static and that elements of existing TAP projects and new donor procedures are pointing forward.

The analysis leads to the following recommendations:

2.2.3.1. Recarding manpower planning and availability of local manpower

The recipient countries need to strengthen their manpower planning in order to improve their knowledge about the availability of various categories of skilled manpower.

Manpower surveys will form the basis for identifying priority areas for development of the local manpower resource base and for identifying the role of TAP in the long term development plans of the countries in question. The evaluation mission recommends that the Nordic donors react positively, should the governments of Kenya, Tanzania and Zambia request for assistance in this field.

2.2.3.2. Regarding the availability of skilled local manpower for public sector jobs

In order to attract, develop and retain skilled manpower in the public sector Kenya, Tanzania and Zambia need to reform the Civil Service.

It is not simply a question of paying higher salaries and fringe benefits. For young local professionals job satisfaction is probably equally important particularly in Kenya, where one can exist reasonably well on a government salary.

The evaluation mission recommends that Nordic Development Agencies bring up the need for reforms in relation to the discussion of the need for TAP during the annual development assistance consultations with the three recipient countries.

2.2.3.3. Recarding project identification and appraisals

The desk officers of the Nordic donor agencies in Nairobi, Dar es Salaam and Lusaka cannot be expected to have a thorough knowledge of the local availability of various skill categories.

In order to improve the information upon which the institutional framework and personnel component of new development assistance projects/programmes are based, the evaluation mission recommends that:

- The Nordic agencies cooperate for example by employing a local consultant to develop an information system on the availability of various professional skill categories and the various ways in which they can be attached to donor development programmes as a substitute for TAP.
- The Nordic agencies incorporate institution building and manpower/state development in their project appraisal/project planning manuals to be used by appraisal missions. And that long term institutional and staff development becomes an integrated part of all project planning documents.

 The Nordic agencies incorporate qualified professionals with relevant experience in institution building and staff development in all project appraisal/project planning teams.

2.2.3.4. Regarding donor motives

- Desk officers in Nordic agency missions are still to some extent administrators rather than professional development workers. TAP are offered pre-posting training regarding the recipient country socioeconomic environment. Young inexperienced desk officers are often posted without such prior preparation for the job.

The evaluation mission recommends that desk officers are well prepared for development work through relevant pre-posting training courses. These courses should include an introduction to the recipient country administrative and political system and its traditions and procedures.

The aim of these courses should be to avoid that narrow short term implementation considerations lead to administrative decisions regarding project designs and functions of TAP at the cost of long term manpower development and institution building.

- The distrust in the ability of the government of recipient countries to implement projects efficiently and to account properly for equipment and funds must be overcome by working within the local system in cooperation with the local government officers. The development of parallel institutions staffed by TAP only leads to underdevelopment of local capabilities.

Kenya, Tanzania and Zambia alike have administrative systems and state auditing systems. They do not function as well as the similar systems in the Nordic countries, but they can be streamlined through proper monitoring and evaluation. If the recipient countries request assistance in this area, the evaluation mission recommends that the Nordic agencies respond positively.

This chapter should be seen in association with the following chapter on the aim and relevance of the TAP-component of projects (ToR 3.3). This chapter deals with the general impact, strength and weaknesses of TAP in projects. The individual performance of TAP and different factors influencing individual TAP from recruitment to debriefing are dealt with in chapter 8 (ToR 3.6 and 3.7).

Impact is reflected by the TAP-components effectiveness in:

- achievement of specific operational project-goals, different for different projects.
- 2) development of indigenous manpower (counterpart systems, on-the-job training, formal training, training of trainers, development of training systems and manpower development systems etc).
- 3) sustained development of institutions (integration in the national system, strengthening of national institutions at national and local level etc).

Important in this respect is whether TAP are working as gap-fillers or primarily as advisors and trainers, whether they are implementors of project objectives themselves or are strengthening and participating in development of local systems and institutions designed for a takeover.

The degree of utilization of the capacities of TAP is of course crucial for the overall performance.

Observations:

3.1 Control functions

The role of TAP as controller is never or very seldom mentioned in project documents, and only very few job descriptions mention this role, which seems to be of increasing importance, although it is seldom specified or brought out into the open.

It is our evaluation that about 20 % of Nordic TAP have some sort of control as their primary function. The function is to control proper use of funds to avoid misappropriations and to be a sort of guarantee for donor agencies. But

a second part of the role should not be underestimated. Very often it is a part of the task to be responsible for procurement of equipment, spare-parts etc, and more often than not from the donor countries.

Interviews give us the impression that tasks of procurement and (especially) control have been increasing over the years.

It is tasks which are often carried out very efficiently, but if those tasks do not imply training or institution-building (in the same areas: control and procurement) it can be discussed whether it is in reality technical assistance, or purely Nordic auditor—, accountant— and sales—functions. A rigid donor—imposed system of TAP administration of procurement and accounting functions can in some cases be counter—productive, and make integration impossible.

Other evaluations have recommended donor agencies to state openly, when the main purpose of expatriate personnel is control of donor funds, and we want to make this recommendation ours. Openness around these functions is also the only road to discussions on how to solve the mentioned contradictions in the TAP-assistance.

It is our observation, that representatives of recipient countries understand and even sometimes appreciate control, but such TAP positions must be given correct labels, and the functions be mentioned in project documents. Project plans shall also include plans for transfer and integration of such control (and procurement) into the national systems.

3.2 Operational achievements

Most TAP are professionals. They want to do a job in their own trade and profession, and thereby to demonstrate that a given objective can be reached and how.

Although training is seen as a very important element of the job by most TAP, it is still secondary to what is seen as the primary job functions: to provide water in water projects, to maintain roads in a road maintenance project, to provide planning figures for provincial planning, to plan effective marine operations at Lake Victoria, or to teach at a training centre. Teaching is in

this last example also seen as doing the job as a sort of gap-filler it contradiction to training of to-be-trainers at a training centre α development of training systems in cooperation with local trainers.

Almost all TAP are to some degree effective as professionals in their normal professions. There are a number of negative exceptions, and as it shall be shown later, it has in some areas been a problem to recruit qualified personnel (and/or qualified companies) but the general picture is nevertheless that lack of normal professional qualifications is not a main problem; and there are many hard working, skilled professionals doing a good job.

The fact, that recipient countries need technical assistance can also justify some gap-filling in various positions, and even where the main task is training or institution building, gap-filling is still seen to be an important part of the job.

Gap-filling, understood as TAP doing a job for which local professionals are (for a number of reasons) not available at the moment, has been an important element of the functions of TAP in almost all 58 cases evaluated.

The fact, that more local professionals could sometimes have been made available and the need for gap-filling therefore made less through better planning, does not change these observations, but point primarily at other weaknesses in the TAP— and project—system. And at weaknesses in many TAP's ability to do more than their normal professional job as trainers and institution builders.

Gap-filling at management level and/or as organizers is a special and important area. It is reflected in many interviews with TAP, that lack of experience in management, and lack of skills or tradition for organizational work is seen as main weakness in many institutions in Africa. Basically the problems can only be solved over time, and in donor assisted projects only in connection with strong training elements and institution building elements in the assistance. The value of short term gap-filling in management are organization should however not be underestimated.

panish assistance to the <u>Marine Service of Tanzania Railway</u> Corporation can serve as example: Supported by Danish financial and TAP assistance since 1981, the service has been reorganized and rehabilitated. The passenger traffic has quadrupled, the number of tours increased rapidly and the staff very significantly reduced. The achievement is better economy and a significant contribution to the economic and social development in the lake region.

The success has undoubtedly a certain institution strengthening effect in itself, but our evaluation shows that training and institution building have apart from this been weak project components until recently. The project, which was to end in 1985, has been extended and a further extension until 1991 is likely. At the moment the results achieved are impressive, but not sustainable.

3.3 Training (The counterpart-system)

It is difficult to find a project without some elements of training, and all TAP will normally see it as one of their tasks to train or transfer know-how. But the training component is nevertheless one of the weakest in many projects.

In one third of the projects there was no formal training plan or element, or the training was introduced very late, often after several years of project life. In another third, training was primarily or only on-the-job training, possibly including a few scholarships, but without any concrete manpower development plan. And only in one third of the projects was training made a more systematic, integrated and planned part of work plans for TAP and for projects.

Training plans are no guarantee against problems. It is not possible to make a perfect training system in a difficult environment, but high and timely priority given to training is the first condition.

These observations should be seen together with our observations of the counterpart system. It is an old tradition in development assistance to have national counterparts working together with expatriates, and thereby learning from the TAP experience. The system has often been criticised, but is still the dominant system for training at many projects. It is our observation that

the counterpart situation is a problem in around two third of the projects, and about half of the TAP, who were supposed to have counterparts, did not have any.

One conclusion is, that the old combination of on-the-job training and counterparts is not working, and not solving the training problems.

In the following some of the reasons are given.

First as seen by recipients:

It has been donor thinking, that professionals in the recipient system get may possibilities in their personal development and new career opportunities by being counterparts at a project with funding and technical assistance from outside.

But the reality is much more complex. As expressed by a provincial permanent secretary in Zambia: "Counterpart positions are not popular or attractive. They are subordinate and low paid, and it is often very unclear, which career possibilities, they give".

This statement has, with variations, been repeated in all three countries. In some ministries and sectors it seems obvious, that national authorities are not ready to post their best people as counterparts. Counterpart positions can be dead ends for more senior people.

Very many of the counterparts interviewed have criticised that their positions are very unclear. They do not know if or when they are going to take over responsibility or how long they have to be in a subordinate position.

TAP and the donor agencies often criticise lack of continuity because of frequent changes of counterparts, and local authorities are often blamed for project failures due to such reasons. The criticism is sometimes valid, but we have met a great number of counterparts, who have described how they have had to receive, support and start several inexperienced expatriates, without ever being given a plan for their own future.

Reasons for lack of counterpart promotion can be both in the donor and in the recipient system. If lack of counterparts leads to appointment of very junior people, it is very likely that they will not be accepted as experienced enough to take over a TAP function. But the reason for counterpart frustration is very often lack of planning for their future inside projects.

In Kenya it is often possible for talented young professionals to find better opportunities outside the government sector, and this is also sometimes the case in Tanzania and Zambia. Other ways of "solving" frustrations can be to do less than necessary in the counterpart job. "We are not given responsibility, we do not know if we are ever promoted, and we are paid a fraction of the salary TAP gets. Why should we then be very dedicated?"

Some counterparts have criticized the TAP's lack of skills or experience in training. Or as one counterpart expressed it: "This is not learning-by-doing but learning-by-looking."

It often adds to frustration, that the TAP in a workshop or a plant is the only person with access to funds for procurement of spare-parts etc. Sometimes with "a direct line" to the Nordic exporter, and it makes it impossible for counterparts to think, that they will ever be able to take over. Often TAP seems to be of the same opinion.

It is not uncommon that the counterpart has been with the job already for many years, and/or is much older than the advisor.

TAP at projects will often see the counterpart problem as a proof of lack of priority given to the projects by national authorities. They are not given the counterparts they have been promised, or they are given too young inexperienced people. Sometimes they have to accept that good counterparts are transferred to other positions. If scholarships are included in counterpart training, they are without their counterparts for long periods, without any guarantee, that they will ever get them back.

A number of factors lead to situations, where TAP feel they have to do the job themselves, because they cannot rely on the counterpart system. A weak training and counterpart system is further weakened by this process, but it has to be added, that quite many TAP - though worried over the situation - in reality like to do the job alone. They feel that training is difficult and often not the best of their qualifications. If a project is without formal manpower development plan and/or time schedule for out-phasing of TAP, they are not trying to change this situation, they often tend to defer the problem to a later unknown moment.

Companies from donor countries may not have an interest in replacement of TAP with local personnel, due to the way overheads are calculated.

One of the conclusions is, that counterpart systems are seldom effective. A minimum condition is that such systems are parts of more formal and systematic manpower development plans included in project plans from the beginning, based on time planning, career development plans for nationals working as counterparts or studying and on more systematic training plans.

Training at training institutions is a specific problem. There is no doubt here, that training is the main task, but problems from other projects are nevertheless repeated. TAP train students, but have great difficulties when it comes to training of teachers and trainers or to the development of training systems, curriculum development etc.

SIDA support to Rwegalulira Water Institute and partly to the Telecommunication Training Centre, both in Tanzania, are illustrative examples. In both cases the assistance has included relatively sophisticated equipment, and transfer of knowledge to local staff has in both cases been a problem. And local staff fear they are left with equipment they do not know how to use.

At the Water Resource Institute one of the problems seems to have been that both parties (donor and recipient) were stuck with the idea of counterparts without being able to keep this system working. Lack of manpower has made it difficult to assign two people (TAP plus counterpart) to one position, and experienced local staff do not like to be made counterparts especially to younger and less experienced TAPs.

But professional exchange of knowledge and transfer could and should be structured in a different way. At an educational institution it should be possible to establish a formal planned tutor-teacher relationship.

It is not possible to propose a perfect recipe for training workable in all projects and all environments, but much more open-minded timely thinking is needed. Staff development is one of the key words.

3.4 Institution building

Some problems in institution building have been mentioned already. The experiences in the water sector show both the tendency to create independent parallel institutions, and to make existing institutions oversized through assistance.

In Tanzania and Zambia this risk is obvious for all bigger projects. The economic problems are so severe, that all bigger projects are more or less creating their own structures, not sustainable without future support. Systems like the appropriation—in—aid (A—in—A) in Kenya, where funds are channelled outside the national systems, and the payment of Danish TAP outside normal project budgets, are negative from an institution building viewpoint. The problems in training systems, and many TAP's preference for doing the job themselves, are also making it more difficult to strengthen local institutions.

Institution building has to be a sort of a compromise because it can be impossible to develop totally independently sustained institutions. When a country like Tanzania has become more and more dependent on foreign assistance, it is a part of the problem that many national institutions are at the moment - only sustainable with support from outside.

Positive examples

In this situation it is realistic to consider institution building a success, if a project has been integrated in the national system to such a degree, that it is possible to maintain and run it with a limited continued financial support, and possibly also a limited technical follow-up assistance of short-term nature.

Two examples, one from Tanzania and one from Zambia, illustrate positive possibilities:

Tanzania Bureau of Standard and Murse Tutor programme in Zambia.

Tanzania Bureau of Standard has been given Swedish assistance since 1979, financed by SIDA, but channelled by the Swedish "sister" standards institution. TES moved to new premises in 1982 and is today a new, relatively well working, institution. Economy and a certain "brain drain" constitute problems, but they are manageable. TES receives no long-term personnel assistance anymore, but the former Swedish project manager is still assisting short-term. In the mid 1980's an average of 3 TAP were employed by TES. A number of factors have been important for the success:

- TBS has had the same director since 1977, and he was the person who contacted SIDA for support. The idea was Tanzanian, and there has been continuity at Tanzanian management level.
- The Swedish support made it possible to construct a new modern institution with good working conditions for the staff, some fringe benefits (e.g. housing). The institutional development of TBS took place in a positive environment and with unusual continuity in the staff.
- There has also been continuity in the TAP system with most TAP coming from the same Swedish institution and all working in the same field. But it is maybe more important, that TAP have never been "a part" of the organization, they have been advisors from the beginning, and they have normally not taken over positions even when there have been staff shortages. In the words of the director: "It is not a problem to phase out, when expatriates have given back-up services only, whereas it is a very tricky thing if the organization from the start is based on expatriates." There has in this situation not been a counterpart problem.
- Through forward planning it has been possible to offer a flexible TAP assistance, with a combination of long- and short-term expatriate assistance, and often with former long-term TAP coming back on short-term missions.

In conclusion: A success through a combination of a strong national base for the project, and a flexible adjustable advisory technical assistance from a sister institution in the donor country. Therefore also a cooperation between equals or almost equals.

The marked contrast are projects "created" by donors or by recipients, but without a national base, and therefore with TAP as managers and implementors from the beginning, and with nationals in subordinate positions. The weaker the national base is seen, the stronger the TAP component, and as a result a much more difficult transfer situation.

The <u>Nurse Tutor Programme</u> in Zambia supported by SIDA gives a less clear picture, but is still an example of successful out-phasing of TAP. Swedish personnel assistance for training of nurses started in 1973. Over the years 45 nursing and midwifery tutors have served on an average three years. Support was given to nurses' schools and later for a post basic school of nursing. Swedish tutors were both engaged in teaching directly, and in training of Zambian teaching staff. From 1978 SIDA and the Zambian Government began to plan for out-phasing of TAP. A formal plan was agreed upon in 1981, and the last tutor left in 1985. A certain staff development training has been given since then, but that is also being phased out now.

During the 12 years of TAP assistance there have been conflicts about priorities in the programme and differences in donor- and recipient-views, e.g. between the more pragmatic Nordic educational standards and the inherited British system.

Another serious problem was the fact, that it was impossible to find Zambian tutors for distant provincial schools, even when enough Zambian graduates were trained.

SIDA insisted that the personnel assistance could not go on, and TAP not be posted at these vacancies, when Zambian tutors were available in the country.

There were also problems in the TAP group. Evaluations show that a few TAP were unqualified and some had only a minimum of qualifications for their positions. It is possible that the same achievements could have been made

cheaper with less TAP or with a combination of Swedes and third country nationals (it was tried to recruit third country nationals, but without success or much efforts).

As can be seen, the project was in no way ideal, but nevertheless a relative-success due to emphasis on training of trainers and institution building from the start. The planning for out-phasing of TAP was - with some flexibility - made at the right time, and SIDA insisted on out-phasing, when the local base had been strengthened enough to make it realistic for the country to take over.

In conclusion: When training and institution building elements are built into a project from the beginning, and when the forward planning (also for outphasing of TAP) are made early, it is possible to absorb a number of conflicts and problems without ruining a project. It is essential, that the recipients are closely involved in the out-phasing plan and its consequences.

3.5 The number of expatriate TAP

In other sections we deali with the need of identifying and finding better systems of employing national professionals instead of expatriate TAP. It is not possible in any exact way to measure how many of the present TAP functions local professionals could take over, but our evaluations lead us to believe, that available manpower exists for 204 out of 324 of the functions if problems such as lack of funds etc. are solved. More TAP-functions can be taken over by a locals in Kenya, than in Tanzania and Zambia.

A reduction in the number of TAP could release funds for a number of other manpower development purposes.

It is our conclusion, which should also be seen in the light of findings in other chapters, that the number of expatriate TAP could be reduced substantially, through A) more efforts to employ local personnel possibly on contract. B) faster out-phasing of long-term TAP in combination with well-planned staff development programmes, and C) follow-up assistance in the form of experienced short-term TAP, possibly plus one or two TAP in bigger projects.

summary of findings and recommendations

Main conclusions and more specified recommendations are included in different sections of the chapter.

The overall conclusion is 1) that control functions are seen by the donor agencies to be still more important, but are very seldom mentioned in project documents. Such positions are not always technical assistance, but there is an understanding in recipient countries for some such positions; 2) that TAP have their main problems in training and institution building; 3) that the traditional system of training with a combination of on-the-job training and counterpart positions is not effective; 4) that it is easier to absorb problems and conflicts in projects where manpower development and institution building have been included from the beginning, but such projects are few; 5) that more systematic efforts to employ local personnel are lacking and 6) that a faster and well planned out-phasing of long term TAP followed up by short-term assistance could sometimes be a cheaper and more effective solution.

Recommendations

Control and procurement functions must be specified in project documents, and plans for integration of such functions in national systems included.

Systematic manpower development plans must be included in projects plans from the beginning and based on time-planning career development plans for nationals and more systematic training plans.

Priority should be given to projects with a strong national base, making twinning arrangements and "cooperation between equals" one of the possibilities and making institution building and well-planned out-phasing of TAP a process which involves the recipient closely.

These recommendations should especially be seen in connection with findings and recommendations in chapter 4 and 7.

The intention of this chapter is in accordance with ToR 3.3 to present a broader examination of the TAP component of projects, and not least to compare the actual development with the intentions as perceived at the planning stap.

Observations

There is a very strong TAP component in most Nordic projects in Africa. It is the judgement of the donor agencies, that the size of the TAP component in average project in India is less than 50 % of the average in Tanzania, for projects with the same level of financial funding.

As it has been shown, the situation is not the same in the three African countries covered by this evaluation, but the general picture has been one of a need for technical assistance personnel in many different sectors due to a number of different problems within the countries.

The broad aim of the strong TAP component in the assistance has since the birth of development aid been to provide the countries with much needed technical expertise as a supplement to financial assistance. In specific projects, objectives for TAP varies, but the general long term aim has in most cases been to make certain, that development assistance to projects or programmes lead to viable, sustainable and therefore lasting improvements in the relevant sectors or areas.

Measured on the basis of the intentions of the TAP component as perceived at the planning stage, this aim can not in general be seen to have been met.

Many projects have failed to meet their objectives. They have for a number of reasons not been sustainable.

It is difficult or impossible to evaluate the TAP component of projects without taking other factors into account. And the evaluation of the Tax component of Nordic projects in Kenya, Tanzania and Zambia has not been overall evaluation of all factors leading to success or failure. It is obvious that the economic crisis, which hit Tanzania first, and later also Zambia, had a detrimental effect on the development, and also on the work of technic assistance personnel.

There are cases, where objectives of projects and technical assistance seemed relevant at the planning stage, but where the general development may have made the task of TAP almost impossible.

But it is at the same time important to stress, that where a strong TAP component in projects should make it easier to be flexible and to adjust to a changing environment, the situation has sometimes been the opposite.

Such flexibility and ability to realistic adjustment is not always seen.

4.1 TAP does not lead to sustainable projects

One way of measuring discrepancies between the original aim of the TAP component and the factual situation today, is to look at the number of projects, which have had both a longer lasting and a bigger TAP component than originally anticipated.

30-35 of the projects are so mature, that it is relevant to make this comparison, and in one third to half of the projects, the TAP component has developed very differently from what was originally planned. In some cases specifications at the planning stage were not detailed enough so it is possible to make an exact comparison, but the general picture is clear. And in a number of cases it is possible to specify.

Tanzania is the country, where the difference between the perceptions at the planning stage and the actual TAP situation in projects, is the biggest. In more than half of the evaluated Tanzania projects, and in many of those with the biggest TAP component, the development of the TAP situation over the years had very little resemblance to the anticipation of the planners.

Zambia comes close to the same situation but with fewer and less marked cases.

The picture is more varied in Kenya.

Some examples document the problems:

Sao Hill Saw mill in Tanzania. A NORAD supported project, administered by a Norwegian consultant company, established in 1974, and since then with an average of 6 TAP working for the project (with a maximum of 10 at one time). According to the original feasibility study, the last expatriate should have left the project in 1977. An evaluation in 1977 recommended plans for

counterpart training and transfer of management positions to local staff. According to the new plan TAP should be out-phased in 1981. At the time of this evaluation there were still 5 TAP at the project. Part of the management is still expatriate. The newest plan speaks about out-phasing of long-term TAP in 1989, but continued short term consultancies. After around 80 TAP manyears the saw mill is not evaluated as sustainable without expatriates.

Project implementation section, a DANIDA-supported section in Tanzania's Ministry of Education. The project was established under a different name in 1969. In 1983 after the input of 140 TAP manyears, the staff was still predominantly expatriate. The development of realistic building standards (one of the main aims) has not been a success, and in 1987 (after 15 additional TAP manyears) the TAP assistance is being out-phased. Emphasis is instead put on assistance to maintenance in the school sector. The original aims of the FIS projects were never reached.

Practical Subjects project in Zambian upper primary school. Supported by FINNIDA since 1974, and with the Finnish assistance, since 1985 channelled through a Finnish university institution. An evaluation in 1984 recommended that technical assistance should be phased out during the spring 1986, with the exception of one TAP, who should continue until 1987. A new project document made on the basis of the evaluation planned out-phasing in 1988, but a preliminary revised plan prepared by the Finnish director of the project envisaged that the 5 TAP present in 1987 should continue until 1990, and that 4-5 new posts should be created.

To further illustrate the problem a number of other projects with similar problems are mentioned briefly:

The Finnish assistance to <u>Tanzania</u>'s <u>State Mining Corporation</u> since 1969. The first evaluation took place in 1985 and showed that advisors worked without specific objectives and were too dispersed to be effective in the activities. The number of TAP grew from one to four and the corporation dependence on TAP increased, while the decrease in production, which start in the sixties, continued.

The Danish assistance to the cement industry in Tanzania (primarily <u>Tanza</u> <u>Cement</u>), where dependency on TAP increased and continued much longer than anticipated, where project objectives were never reached, and where a number of sudden ad hoc solutions had to be imposed to avoid total failure.

The Norwegian support to <u>Meegany Fisheries Development Centre</u>, a more than 20 year old project, which has absorbed more than hundred TAP manyears, but had to be redesigned and redirected after failure. The actual cost of 15 TAP in 1987 is close to four times the total recurrent budget for the centre, and the NORAD involvement has become much deeper than ever anticipated. A joint Tanzanian Norwegian Evaluation Report from 1986 anticipated need for TAP for another 4 years.

The Norwegian support to the <u>Rural Roads Maintenance Programme</u> in Tanzania, where a project with 17 TAP today, and with its start 15 years back, is still an expatriate managed project, with none or very little Tanzanian involvement at managerial level. Efforts are made to change the situation, but decisions on changes were taken very late.

The Swedish support (through a semi-public institution) to the training centre of Tanzania's telecommunication sector, where the centre after years of TAP assistance (6 TAP in 1987) is without institutional capability to take over, and where the TAP component is now increased and strengthened further.

4.2 A vicious circle

The list could be continued with more projects or elements of projects.

Though the reasons for problems and deviations from planned developments are many and different, some are very frequently observed.

In Tanzania, and increasingly also in Zambia, recruitment and retention of dedicated local personnel constitutes a problem, which is often seen to be insoluble. The counterpart system does not work or works very unsatisfactorily, where such systems formally exist, and TAPs become managers and implementors to a degree which was never intended. In a number of cases relatively qualified nationals are present in the society and the problem is how to recruit and retain them. In other cases they are even present within the projects, but they are for a number of (primarily economic) reasons not able

or prepared to perform to standards required to meet project objectives. Government officers in Tanzania "cannot" devote all their working hours to their formal work. They need to do other things as well to be able to "survive" on government salaries. It is the normal judgement, that one months government salary can only cover one weeks expenses for an average civil servant.

The economic problems in many institutions are at the same time so severe, that they make it impossible to continue operations without funds (and funds in foreign currency) from outside and TAP is normally seen as one of the conditions for financial support.

These problems are dealt with elsewhere. Here, where one of the questions is to evaluate, to which extent TAP have succeeded in adapting to the situation, we will deal with the effects these problems have had on the thinking and planning by technical assistance personnel and in the TAP system as such. Some of the biggest problems have been experienced in projects of a substantial size and with a big TAP component. In some cases the TAP component has been increasing, even when evaluations or original project plans have recommended the opposite.

It is not possible to give a totally objective answer to why this has happened, but interviews and project documents give some rather precise pointers:

In many of the cases referred to, it has been seen as the task for the TAP group as such or for the TAP coordinator in cooperation with local agency missions (and often but not always with the national authorities) to make certain, that the given project is working and operational in spite of all difficulties. "That the job is being done."

Adding more TAP is often the easiest way of solving complicated implementation problems, where alternative (local) solutions require decisionmaking in the local bureaucracy (which may be politically sensitive or very time-consuming

This has lead to the creation of additional TAP posts, often generated within the TAP community, and often with job descriptions formulated by TAP colleagues.

Though it (as will be discussed in chapter 7) quite often has been a problem to find enough qualified TAP candidates in the donor countries it has been the first solution to recruit additional expatriates to the projects in an effort to solve problems. Finding ways of solving the problems from within the recipient country has not been given the same priority.

In some cases, projects have developed their own internal expatriate life, where all key positions are manned with TAP, and where procurement and the use of all funds are controlled by expatriate staff.

Sometimes a vicious circle has developed. Difficulties in recruiting and retaining local manpower and lack of local involvement leads to additional TAP posts. Additional TAP posts lead to an expatriate community less integrated and still more with its own social and working life and norms, but with the ability to manage and implement all project elements. This situation leads to even less local involvement and enthusiasm, and in some cases even to deliberate (but seldom open) decisions giving less priority to the national or local manpower support to such projects. In a situation, where the recipient has a manpower scarcity and lacks funds, local top priority will seldom be given to support for projects, where the whole management and implementation formally or in reality are in the hands of the donors.

The NATCAP report on technical assistance to Zambia in 1986, speaks about the danger of technical cooperation creating unsustainable "islands of efficiency". Our evaluation does not in all respects confirm that "islands" created by Nordic technical assistance are efficient, but it confirms that it is very difficult to reach sustainability.

4.3 Country differences

As mentioned, Kenyan projects differ to some degree from this general picture. Similar cases can be found, but they are less typical, and there are less "old" Nordic assisted projects, which still have a big TAP component. An obvious exception to this general picture is the Nordic Cooperative Development Programme in Kenya, which has "swallowed" more then 600 TAP manyears during its 20 years. The programme seems, in spite of many problems, to have benefitted the Kenyan society in a number of ways, but the TAP input

and costs have been enormous. After 20 years the latest review (Cracknell) shows, that insufficient planning, monitoring and evaluation, and unrealistic targets still create problems.

It is somewhat easier to recruit and retain local personnel in Kenya, and the problems with lack of local funds are not so dominant. The same problems as in Tanzania and Zambia are there and they are very visible, but they do not reach the same level. That is one of the reasons for the different Kenyan picture. The Kenyan economy is more developed, and bigger and more experienced, higher education systems in some sectors are other parts of the explanation.

But it is also obvious, that donor proposals for TAP are more often challenged by national or local authorities in Kenya. In Tanzania and Zambia, governments are more ready to accept donor proposals and to see TAP as an non-negotiable necessary part of a total aid package.

Lack of sufficient resources have led to Tanzanian and Zambian near-noninvolvement in some "TAP-heavy" projects. Some projects have been allowed to
develop on their own to such a degree, that authorities are skeptical, whereit
is proposed to redirect projects and work for much closer integration and for
out-phasing of TAP. As e.g. in the case of the Rural Road maintenance in
Tanzania some representatives of the recipient country see it as a new burden
and a possible threat towards the objective of the assistance, that they
cannot rely on a continuance of a free expatriate road maintenance system.

In this environment it is often the easiest (but also most expensive) justified on. To revise and postpone plans for out-phasing of TAP continuously that the difficult decisions are always to be taken two or three years late. The difficulties in projects can (almost) always justify to put more emphasis on "doing-the-job" in a TAP effort to avoid break downs and failure.

As we have seen in chapter 3 there is a lack of manpower coordination in recipient countries, and the weak economic situation leads to relative passive acceptance of donor proposals also for TAP.

When donors insist on TAP

In Kenya the evaluations of the TAP component in Nordic projects have sometimes shown other reasons for lack of national or local support or integration. Projects in the water sector, and special problems in some projects administered by consultant companies are dealt with later. Here we will only mention two projects, where too high donor priority to TAP for different project tasks may have led to lack of Kenyan involvement.

Family Life Training programme. A DANIDA supported programme since 1979, and earlier supported by Red Cross and Oxfam. At the moment supported with two TAP and 7 Danish volunteers. Government funds for the programme have been decreasing over the years and the programme does not seem to have a high status within the relevant ministry. It is the feeling of TAP, that the Kenyan staff is not very interested or motivated. TAP feel, that the programme would come to a standstill without them.

Public Telephone project. A DANIDA supported project, where TAP on grant basis is supplementary to a project based on a state loan. The project involves DANIDA-TAP and Consultant-TAP. Consultant-TAP were at first included in the loan agreement, but Kenyan government claimed they were not needed. They were then made a part of a Danish grant and accepted by Kenya. But the consultants (technicians) have had difficulties. Lack of qualifications have been a problem, but also Kenya Post and Telecommunication's lack of allocation of qualified personnel to the relevant tasks. The evaluation gives the indication, that KPTC - with limited resources - did not find it necessary to give high priority to an area, where a donor insisted on providing "free labour". (The problem is not unusual. There have been other cases were TAP as a part of a Danish State loan were first rejected by the recipient country, but later accepted, when it was made part of a supplementary grant assistance).

Reasons for project problems or inability to reach the planned objectives are almost always complicated, but examples from all three countries show, that if a whole project or the TAP component of a project is the result of donor insistence more than of a request from the recipient, integration becomes difficult or impossible, and working conditions for TAP are often negatively influenced by the lack of priority attached to the project or task by the local system.

If neither the donors, nor recipients in such cases are prepared to take strong actions redefining or renegotiating the projects to reach a positive understanding, they can go on and on, possibly with operational benefits, but at a high cost and without any institutional development.

In some cases local authorities will be forced to take over a task, they should maybe have been given from the start of the project. In other and more serious cases the lack of local involvement from the start, and the domagencies use of too many TAPs can make it practically impossible to out-phase assistance at a later stage.

Frequent revisions and postponements of out-phasing plans for many projects document this problem.

4.4 Water projects

Particular high priority has for many years been given to Nordic assistance to the water sector in Kenya and Tanzania. All four Nordic donor agencies are involved and a number of consultant companies are working for the agencies as administrators of funds and construction companies. The input of TAP is very substantial, and the good and bad experiences gathered are numerous. Early and very costly Swedish involvement in technologically sophisticated piped diesel engine pumped water supply in Tanzania has been one of the "old" negative experiences. Many schemes did not become operational or did not stay in operation.

"Historical" experiences exist in this area, and new trends in development and thinking are to a certain degree communicated to new projects, but TAP working at different projects in the water sector in Kenya in 1987, had very little knowledge about the development in "each others" projects. They had seldomet, had normally not seen the other projects, and had no professional exchange of experiences, although many of them would have liked to. A coordination unit for water development plans exists, but with limited impact. (Me limited TAP evaluations in other sectors e.g. provincial planning units in Zambia with involvement of more Nordic countries showed a similar lack of cooperation).

TAP often felt, that they could benefit from professional discussions with other expatriates in a similar situation, but vague intentions about "doing something to improve the situation" did not seem to materialise.

one of the striking surprises in an evaluation of the TAP component in projects in the water sector in Kenya and Tanzania today is the lack of exchange of experiences.

4.5 Changing priorities over time

As in other sectors the evaluation in the water sector does not include the overall performance in the sector, the TAP component can on the other hand not be seen isolated from other components.

The task for TAP has been complicated, and the thinking by planners have changed over time, not making the job easier.

The development has not been quite the same in both countries, and not all project or programmes are similar. SIDA's assistance to <u>Kenva's rural water supply programme</u> can however illustrate different problems and different thinking. And show, how the role and aim of TAP have changed within ten years.

In the 1970's the emphasis was on institution building at central and high level. TAP were posted in established positions at ministerial level, as gap-fillers in the bureaucracy supposed to implement and train counterparts. But implementation of water schemes was very slow and counterpart training failed because of lack of qualified Kenyans. The absorptive capacity of the ministry was lower than anticipated.

As a result the task of TAP was redefined from institution building and training at the ministerial level, towards implementation of water schemes. Donor designed "construction companies" were established, and the implementation of water schemes was speeded up from 1980-85. But with little local involvement and little involvement of Ministry of Water Development. Many schemes ran into problems of operation and maintenance.

1

In 1985 the strategy was again changed for operation and maintenance reasons, but also as a result of the new national district focus policy. Local involvement is given much higher priority in the new participatory approach.

4.6 Project documents tell a different story

change in strategies and thinking are not always clearly reflected in project documents written in an earlier phase and still official. The DANIDA water project in Tanzania is in this respect an interesting case of special relevance for the evaluation.

In the terms of reference of the evaluation it is stated, that main tasks of TAP are institution building, training of indigenous personnel and gap-filling. During the evaluation, the Danish TAP at this project stated, that this was not the case here. The purpose is to supply water to villages, and whilst training and gap-filling maybe secondary benefits they are clearly not main tasks. The TAP therefore felt that an evaluation on the basis of TOR would be misleading and "possibly unfairly reflect the projects performance". While the situation of individual TAP is in general dealt with in chapter 8 (the project cycle), it is relevant to mention in this connection, that according to our interviews not all TAP are aware of their job descriptions, that some had not been given briefings about the development aims, that records were unsatisfactory, and that there was not yet any comprehensive plan or policy for training. (Training is nevertheless given priority, and Tanzanian staff are in one of two regions encouraged to take more responsibility).

cation of an overall strategy to TAP in DANIDA's programme in Tanzania show among other things, that <u>failure or less satisfactory performance of TAP in projects or programmes does not necessarily have to do with the qualifications of the individual TAP</u>. This is in a way obvious, but deserves nevertheless to be mentioned. Success or failure is a much more complex question.

4.7 Examples from water and health

The TAP evaluation includes more than ten projects in water, and in the somehow similar health sector in Kenya and Tanzania, and the material is sufficient to study differences and similarities in the problems TAP have experienced.

These are sectors, where more and more emphasis has been put on <u>local</u> <u>mobilization</u>, <u>participation</u> and <u>involvement</u>, and all projects have been moving in this direction, but with different complications.

In many of the projects the main objective has been to <u>provide</u> water (or "health"), and almost all projects experience a permanent conflict between this objective, (which gives priority to construction) and the need for long-term integration, which will hopefully make the achievements sustainable in the future.

A choice between a higher integrated but slower (and by many TAP seen as less efficient) development of the project on the one hand, and a more construction and short-term result oriented, but less integrated project on the other.

As we will see later, most TAP have their best qualifications in implementation, they are achievement oriented and want results within their own period at a given project. The conflict is therefore felt very much by the TAP.

less clear, but just as important is another obvious conflict. The conflict between integration and participation with the local community on the one hand, and integration with the national system at ministerial level and with local representatives for the government system on the other. In a number of projects TAP have done impressive work in an effort to integrate the work in the local community, and thereby also strengthening the local maintenance, fund raising for operational costs etc. There is no doubt that TAP have been able to support the development of more viable water-schemes than those constructed in the 1970's.

The conflict, which is more objective than political, can be described by taking the NORAD support to water supply and sanitation in Rukwa and Kigoma in Western Tanzania. The project is again a reflection of changing priorities, and the increasing emphasis on training and institution building. It started in 1979, but in the beginning with very little integration into the national Ministry of Water Development system, and without any training plans. It was in 1986 (phase IV) decided to integrate the project in the ministry and also to strengthen systematic training. Today it is the aim of TAP to transfer responsibility to Tanzanians and to cut-phase TAP, but the main obstacle for real institution building is now, that the project is of such a scale that it goes far above the capacity of the existing government institution in the region.

As a consequence of the project and the efforts to integrate it in the national system it is the likely result, that the local ministry institution becomes oversized compared to normal operations in the region and will collapse without the continuance of extra budgetary funds.

It is important to distinguish between the cost of construction and the cost of operation and maintenance. Such costs should possibly be covered by users fees, but managed by the ministry. The maintenance organization must continue after the termination of construction, and only simple projects such as shallow wells and protected springs can be maintained solely with locally trained people.

Similar problems are seen in a number of projects. Parallel institutions with budgets much bigger than corresponding national institutions have been created. Relations to local communities have been developed, but often latering the process. Integration with the government system is attempted, but difficulties arise, among other things, because of the size of the projects.

In some cases it can also be the feeling of the national system, that scaros national resources should not be used in regions given such a substantial support from outside donors. The development of integrated decentralized maintenance programmes with government backing are important conditions for sustainability in such projects.

The experience, which is similar in Kenya and Tanzania, demonstrates how continued support will be needed in those sectors to make the results sustainable. One major future challenge is to develop systems for donor support to water supply and maintenance less dependant on TAP. It will be necessary to channel financial resources into the system for a long time to come but hopefully with a very limited use of "controlling" TAP and possibly also with some short term technical assistance.

The problems involved are also treated elsewhere, but a number of factors making this coming task more difficult than should have been necessary, are obvious:

- Although a number of problems are unavoidable, it is clear, that the development of systematic training systems and the early planning of integration of projects in the national systems have often been given much too low priority. Consequences have been that out-phasing of expensive TAP has become even more difficult, but also that parallel donor systems have sometimes developed in unsustainable ways.
- Although many (Nordic and other) donor agencies have worked in similar projects with similar problems, almost nothing have been done to coordinate or exchange professional experiences between different projects.

4.8 TAP from different sources

The projects involve many TAP from different sources, donor-agency-TAP, TAP from consultant companies, and (in a Norwegian project), TAP from NGO's. This underlines the need for cooperation and professional exchange of experiences. Many new people and many new (sometimes inexperienced) companies are involved in the work together with different donor agencies.

In some cases there is even lack of cooperation between projects assisted by the same country and working with same background in the same region, as where two Finnish companies work in the Water and Health sectors in Western Kenya. The two projects were designed in ways which made real cooperation impossible, and a coordination committee was for the same reason not very successful.

72

The <u>Primary Health Care programme in Western Kenya</u>, supported by FIRMING through a consultant company can illustrate some problems.

The structure of the project organization is only for the project, and without any aims to develop it into a lasting institution. Training is an essential part of the project, but training for nationals to replace TAP has not been developed. Training is only mentioned in two of four job descriptions.

Transfer of methods for development of health material was not originally built into the system. The number of TAP is higher than necessary partly because of lack of integration.

The performance of private companies are in general dealt with in chapter 6, but the example illustrates how a project can develop its own structure, outside national and local institutions. And how lack of cooperation even within the National donor system can make integration in the recipient system very difficult.

The example is not exceptional. Swedish support to <u>Rural Water supply</u>. <u>Environmental Sanitation and Health Education (HESAWA)</u> in Tanzania shows very complicated and sometimes poor communication and conflicts between the many partners in the project, involving both consultant companies and the domesagencies with offices both in Tanzania and Sweden - plus the whole Tanzanian system.

Our evaluation shows, that it is an obvious risk that private companies project implementors put more emphasis on visible short-term results of sometimes with the consequence that long-term sustainability, training institution building suffer. When private companies are used, it is we important for the recipients and donor agencies to draw up agreements we take this risk into account, and to create systems for cooperational monitoring from donor agencies, which make it possible to correct a we development.

Tendencies and problems identified, in the "old" Nordic projects - Where assistance has been going on longer than anticipated, and in projects in and health sectors, where conflicts between integration and quick results very obvious - are seen repeatedly in several other Nordic projects.

TAP in more or less all sectors in Tanzania and Zambia experience how projects and institutions sometimes become more and more dependent on the assistance, which ideally should make them less dependent, and it is seen as a bigger and bigger challenge and need to develop systems that in a responsible way make it possible to continue financial assistance without tying it to expatriate personnel. The countries foreign currency situation makes it unlikely that many established projects or institutions can continue without some assistance from outside for procurement and often for the payment of part of recurrent costs. But if this assistance has to include TAP to the same degree as now, the donor programmes will gradually be reduced to a number of "project islands", dependent on donors but to a certain degree independent and isolated from the surrounding society.

4.9 A-in-A and TAP as a free gift

Though the economy of TAP is also dealt with later (in chapter 9 ToR 3.5), two economic considerations deserve to be mentioned in this more general chapter on the TAP-component. a) The disbursement of funds directly to projects without going through Government budgeting, procurement, payment and accounting system, and b) the payment of TAP outside project budgets or country allocations.

a) Funding of projects outside the government financial system.

There are different ways of paying assistance directly to projects without using the normal channels in the government structure. Sometimes (as at provincial level in Zambia) government authorities participate in priority discussions at provincial level, but the funds are not included in their budgets. In other cases governments accept that the government system is totally bypassed by the donors.

A well known system is the so called A-in-A system (appropriation in aid) in Kenya, used by all four Nordic agencies, but with Norad as the agency, which has taken the firmest decision gradually to replace this system by integration in the government system, and channelling of funds to projects through this system in spite of delays as a likely consequence.

The A-in-A system cuts bureaucracy, is a certain guarantee against delay, makes certain that funds are channeled to the projects they have been provide for. But the roles of TAP (often the TAP coordinator) as accountants are controllers are also strengthened, and the combination of this role, and the frequent TAP role as the responsible procurement officer with links to Nortic exporters makes real integration impossible.

If integration and institution building are real wishes, some delamed have to be accepted through the use of the government system, and another less TAP dependent control system has to be developed.

b) Payment of TAP outside the country allocations

This is primarily a Danish problem. The cost of TAP from the three other countries is normally a visible part of the total allocation for a recipient country. This means - at least in theory - that the recipient country during negotiations can argue for TAP costs to be reduced and funds transferred to other purposes. The recipient has an interest in replacing TAP with national personnel, and thereby releasing funds for other purposes.

In the Danish cases costs of TAP are kept away from budgets and negotiations. The idea being, that the recipient country should not carry the burden of costly TAP, but with the consequence that priority discussions become more difficult, and that recipients have nothing to gain by replacement of TAP with own staff members.

In practice the difference between Nordic countries is less. As mentioned by the DAC report on World Bank Technical Assistance activities (DAC(87)30) technical assistance is often "supply driven" or imposed as a price for financial assistance more than as a response to local demand. This goes also for Nordic assistance, and all Nordic countries are quite insistent on the Tecomponent of projects.

Just as TAP can be seen as a "free gift" for recipients, this can also be the donors view. Additional TAP in projects are not proposed on the basis of economic calculations or considerations on relations between TAP input and project output. It is very easy for donor representatives to propose additional TAP in all key functions.

As long as it is still argued, that development assistance is a response to requests from developing countries it is nevertheless a way of hiding costs and economic implications of TAP to argue, that TAP is an extra free gift. In Dermark, as in other Nordic countries, TAP is a very substantial share of development assistance and a costly one. If this fact is kept away from recipient countries and from national project managers, they have no incentive to work for the necessary out-phasing of TAP. And the replacement of TAP by local professionals becomes uneconomical.

The cost of TAP should always be visible and specified in all project budgets and in country allocations to make it possible to base negotiations between donor and recipient on the real cost of TAP, known by all parties.

4.10 <u>Summary of findings and recommendations</u>

One main observation in this chapter is, that a substantial TAP assistance in projects continues much longer than anticipated at planning stages. Especially when the TAP component is strong and substantial in relation to the national base and/or priority given to the projects. In a number of cases projects are not sustainable after several hundreds of manyears of TAP.

Systematic training components has often been introduced very late in such projects, and projects often rely on "own" institutions not integrated in the national system. The overall observation is, that TAP are often forced in to ad hoc solutions of problems. Implementation of specific project objectives becomes the main occupation. Additional TAP positions are often created on the basis of proposals from within the TAP systems in an effort to solve problems, whereas systematic efforts to try to identify local personnel resources are seldom observed.

There is a special risk that private companies (consultant TAP) administering technical assistance on behalf of donor countries give priority to implementation, measurable short-term results, and donor agencies do not always have sufficient resources to follow and monitor such projects.

Some more specific conclusions and recommendations are included in the different sections:

Main recommendations

Donors should in cooperation with recipient governments develop methods systems for identifying and employing national professionals in project replacing TAP wherever possible.

To avoid TAP-heavy unsustainable projects much more emphasis should be put or integration in the national system already at the planning stage. Mannodevelopment plans and realistic plans for the out-phasing of TAP should be included from the projects start (see also chapter 4) where donors assist in the same sectors information and experience should be developed.

Monitoring systems for projects administered by private companies should be developed, and donor agencies be given sufficient resources to make the tast possible (See chapter 7).

The recipient governments financial systems should be used when projects are funded by donors.

The cost of TAP should be visible and specified in all project documents to make the TAP component more negotiable.

5. HOST COUNTRY ATTITUDES TO TAP.

5.1 Observations.

<u>1,3</u>

The fact that TAP are usually on contract with the donor agency or an implementing foreign company or institution makes their position somewhat unclear to the local officers. They feel that they cannot control and discipline the TAP, and if a TAP is found unsuitable there is very little they can do. Only in extreme cases has action been taken by the recipient country to send an unsuitable person home. Two cases can be cited, one when the TAP had refused to lend a project vehicle to a visiting Minister of State, and one when a TAP had been carrying a pistol around without even having a licence for it.

The local officers were often not informed sufficiently about e.g. the holidays of their subordinate TAP. It was felt that TAP do not always respect the working hours of the institution in which they work and they take their holidays when it suits them disregarding the suitability for the local institution.

It is generally accepted that TAP are very efficient in the implementation of their projects. The reason for this is seen to be the good facilities they have, not their personal or professional qualities. Many officers claim that they could achieve the same given the access to the same equipment and other facilities.

Some officers mentioned that in their opinion the projects had actually too good equipment because that level was not sustainable within the government system. It also seemed to them that TAP, who control the money, sometimes procure equipment which is not at all needed for the operations and thus waste foreign exchange which would be needed more urgently for other purposes in the local institutions.

The local officers are especially critical of the fact that they are not given an equal excess to the project vehicles with TAP. They are aware that they are suspected of misusing the vehicles but as they see it also TAP misuse the vehicles by using them for private driving and holiday trips. Generally it was stated that misuse of equipment and dishonesty are not confined only to local personnel but exist also among TAP.

The role of TAP as trainers is not viewed favourably by the government officials in any of the three countries. The exception are those TAP who primary job is to train and who work in training institutions. The counterpart system has not given expected results. Cases in which a counterpart had actually succeeded a TAP are very rare. Counterparts are often frustratus because when one TAP leaves another one comes in her/his place. Being a counterpart is not an attractive position to a local officer because they sait as inferior to a position where they are fully in charge. A counterpart is also often away from the line positions in the ministry and consequently misses the promotions. In addition the local officers are well aware that nomination for a counterpart may be given with the very purpose of moving the

aside. One case was documented in which the government officer had gone as far

as resigning when he heard that he was made a counterpart.

The people who are not employed by government but who are employed by the implementing agency see the role of TAP in training more favourably than the people employed by the government. Many of those employed by the projects felt that they had been given a chance to be instructed on the job and that the skills they had previously, had been challenged by the work in the project. A significant number of TAP have put attention into discussing the project activities with the direct employees of the project.

Some factors which inhibit the effectiveness of TAP as trainers were e.g. a fundamentally negative attitude to TAP, the lack of required academic qualifications of TAP in an environment where these are highly valued, insufficient language skills of TAP, poor knowledge of the country, the skills of TAP are not sought in the country and the TAP or the whole project has been only reluctantly accepted.

The local people usually estimate the cost of TAP much lower than it actually is but even so they think that these are far too well paid. It is often assumed that TAP would not get equally well paid jobs in their home countries. Good salary and easy life are commonly considered as the main motivation where TAP like to work in the recipient country.

Although it is accepted that some TAP is needed in the recipient countries because of lack of manpower especially at management level it is obvious that in the view of the local officers there is far too much TAP in the three countries. This has raised criticism especially in Kenya and even the Government of Kenya itself has said that all TAP should go home. However, no measures have really been taken to this effect and the government has not even explained why they still continue requesting and accepting TAP. In Zambia a decision has been made that TAP should be accepted only when the manpower is needed, not because of the facilities associated with TAP.

TAP is actually perceived by the local officers especially at district level as an unavoidable component of aid which they have to live with. Gate-keepers are not considered necessary but they are accepted as part of reality. To the group of TAP whose need is only seen by the donors belong e.g. the sociological advisers and community development officers. The governments are only gradually coming to see their role as important in hardware projects. This is mainly through a demonstrated importance emphasized by donors.

The large salary differentials between the nationals and TAP are viewed negatively by the local, especially government, staff. This is one reason for the poor social contact between the local staff and TAP because the local staff feels that they cannot invite the TAP to their more modest homes. It also creates an atmosphere of inequality which does not facilitate transfer of knowledge and skills effectively.

The people of the target groups of the projects have more confidence in the projects than in the work of the ministries. It has also been mentioned that they trust TAP's willingness to help them more than their local officers. Since TAP are outsiders they are also outside the negative aspects of the local systems.

5.2. Analysis

All the three countries have a stated intention of localizing all the posts held presently by TAP. However, none of them has pursued any consistent policy in order to achieve this. In Kenya there has been some public discussion concerning the necessity of TAP in the country and its effects but no real debate has developed.

In interviews with the local officers and counterparts of TAP it becomes clarated that the relation between TAP and the local people is in most cases strained in one way or another. The main reasons for this are:

- The local officers feel that they are not given an equal opportunity
 to do their job well and they are considered professionally inferior
 to TAP even when the difference in performance is due to different
 facilities.
- 2. TAP may have lower academic qualifications than their local colleagues whom they are supposed to train. In an environment in which academic qualifications are highly valued this inhibits effective training even if the TAP could be very experienced in his field.
- 3. TAP may have been imposed on the local institution and only reluctantly accepted as an unavoidable consequence of foreign assistance. In such cases they are perceived as controllers disregarding what their job descriptions say. This adds to the negative atmosphere of distrust between the local officers and TAP.
- 4. The decisions to accept TAP are often made in the central government offices and the officers in the districts are not involved even if they are the ones who are supposed to work together with the TAP. This means that these officers did not always agree in the first place that TAP are needed for the tasks and are unsure what exactly their relation with is TAP supposed to be.
- From the point of view of the local officers TAP seem personally extremely rich and having inexhaustible resources for their work. The fact that TAP usually also controls these resources and makes the executive decisions for their use frustrates the local officers.
- they would be aware how they are perceived by the local officers and institutions. The local officers are reluctant to make their views explicit due to cultural reasons and to the fear that this would decrease the amount of assistance.

The local officers feel that TAP has established double standards in the use of the project facilities. In particular this is the case in the use of project vehicles for private purposes.

There is a difference in the attitudes of TAP towards the local people employed directly by the project and the government employees. There is also a difference how these perceive the TAP. Generally the relations between TAP and the directly employed local people are better than the relations between TAP and the government employees.

One of the main constraints which the interviewed TAP mentioned for their effectiveness, is lack of power. TAP naturally commands more power over directly employed people than over government employed people and therefore feel more secure with the former than with the latter. This creates a more relaxed working atmosphere in the former case. Further, the direct employees may look at the TAP more favourably because these have given them jobs of which there is usually a shortage. It is natural that the good facilities which the project provides gives them also the possibility to get satisfaction of the work. In such areas where the local officers do not enjoy the full confidence and trust of the people TAP is viewed rather positively, not by the people they work with but by the people they work for. They are known to be hardworking and outside the local politics and patron - client systems.

5.3 Conclusions and recommendations

The most fundamental condition for a good working atmosphere between TAP and local staff is that there is real and articulated need for TAP. This issue is elaborated in Chapter 3 and therefore only mentioned here.

Sharing and control of the facilities which a project acquires causes a lot of harmful friction between the local staff and TAP. Having facilities which are exclusively for TAP use cannot be justified with any arguments. It is worst when the arguments are based on double standards which have been established between the local staff and TAP. Proper use and control of facilities is one of the skills in which TAP is supposed to train their local colleagues and this cannot be done if the facilities are not available to everyone on equal terms.

Recommendation. When the purchase and building of facilities is planned, it should be done in full consideration of the whole staff of the project and the needs of the local institution within which the project is supposed to be implemented. The donors have to see the full context in which the project is implemented not "our project" only.

There is a lot of doubt among the local officers concerning the qualifications of TAP. This is because there have been cases in which TAP have not been sufficiently qualified. It has to be accepted by the donors that in the recipient countries formal qualifications are more respected than in the Nordic countries. Consequently a more qualified person cannot be subordinate to a less qualified or a less qualified teach a more qualified. Similarly a younger person cannot effectively teach an older one.

Recommendation. No TAP which is formally not fully qualified should be recruited. Whenever it is possible to know the age of the local people with whom TAP will be working closest this should be considered when TAP is recruited. TAP recruited for managerial or senior positions should not usually be under 40 years.

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES OF CONSULTANTS (PART OF TOR 3.7)

An increasing share of technical assistance from the Nordic countries is channelled through private companies working under contract to the donor agencies. The development with its complications and difficulties are described more in depth in the annex. The main trends are dealt with here and described through some projects with TAP from private companies.

There is a marked difference between the development in the four Nordic countries, as can be seen by a comparison of the situation January 1, 1987. TAP employed by a company or institution working on contract for one of the donor agencies are in the following called consultant TAP, whereas other TAP are called agency TAP.

Number of TAP January 1, 1987 in Kenya, Tanzania and Zambia:

•	Agency TAP	Consultant TAP	Total
Finland	31	118	149
Sweden	120	162	282
Denmark	175	24	199
Norway	185	27	212

As can be seen consultant TAP have an absolute dominance in Finland, and they are a majority in the Swedish assistance, whereas they only constitute a minority in Norway and Dermark. The trend is however, that consultant TAP have been growing also in these two countries, and a further growth is expected.

All four donor agencies explain, that lack of manpower at donor agencies is one important reason for this development. The increase in development assistance has not led to a similar increase in agency staff, and the agencies have been forced to use "private contractors" in the assistance.

The first basic consideration does not seem to have anything to do with a wish to improve the assistance. It was done by necessity.

All donor agencies however emphasize, that they are without the necessary expertise in a number of areas, and that close cooperation with companies add expertise to their programmes.

In some of the donor agencies (most explicitly FINNIDA) it is worrying staff members, that staff shortage is so acute, that it is not possible for the agency to follow projects close enough and when necessary correct and adjust them.

6.1 Different types of consultant companies

The consultants and companies used are of very different nature. In the annex four basic types are mentioned.

- private consultant companies with independent consultant services
- export-oriented firms offering technical assistance as a part of their export of equipment.
- institutions involved in twinning arrangements based on cooperation between professionals in the same field (like TRS, chapter 4.5)
- subsidiaries of public institutions or public institutions as such.

 A variety becoming more and more common in the Nordic countries.

Some of these companies are very experienced and with years of background in Africa, others are new or have just been created for the purpose. Some have short-term profit oriented approach, while others are development oriented and have a long-term strategy. And one of the basic observations is that the quality and background of consultant companies varies very much and makes a uniform description of their impact and effectiveness almost impossible.

It follows from this, that it is important that agencies have sufficient resources to monitor consultant TAP, and that agencies should not almost automatically rely on consultants and consultant TAP in the administration of their assistance, as it is sometimes the case in Finland and to an increasing degree in Sweden.

It is very important for donor agencies to take into consideration whether a company can be seen as an independent adviser or not. Sometimes a consultant makes the appraisal which later involves the same consultant in the administration and "execution" of the proposed project. In other cases a consultant (as in the Zambian case 5.1) has proposed additional TAP immediately after an evaluation recommending out-phasing of TAP.

Where consultant TAP is supplementary to tied grants or tied state loans it can be natural to use TAP from the exporting corporation, but it is at the same time very important to obtain independent advice.

It is an interesting observation, that whereas Nordic consultant engineering companies running commercial subsidiaries in Africa are able to do this with relatively few expatriates and many national professionals, this is not the case when consultant companies are involved in the administration of agency assistance. One reason can be traditional donor thinking, another, that agreements between companies and agencies are often based on overhead calculations, which makes it more favourable for the company to use expensive Nordic TAP instead of cheaper local professionals.

6.2 Recruitment, qualifications and job descriptions

Many of the problems are the same as will later be described for agency TAP. But again the variation is bigger. Some of the most experienced TAP in the Nordic countries are working for consultants, but we have also met totally inexperienced people, with lack of knowledge about countries, languages and the training task. Some were posted with very short notice, sometimes only a few days.

Many companies try to recruit from inside or from a professional pool, but in a number of cases it has been difficult to find enough qualified people, and unqualified have been recruited. The problem has been mentioned in a few Finnish projects and may have to do with the fact, that such a large share of TAP is consultant TAP.

There have also been at least one case, where a person, which failed to meet the standards of DANIDA, were later employed as consultant TAP (and paid by DANIDA at a higher price).

6.3 Training of consultant TAP

Training for consultant TAP has been and still is a problem, but in all for countries a strengthening of this component is considered. Whereas agency TA have always been given some basic preparation and (when needed) language training, consultant TAP have often been posted without any preparation at all

Some consultant TAP are so experienced, that they possibly can do without the normal preparatory course and obviously without language training. But quite many consultant TAP have complained that they were not given the opportunity to get the training they needed, and many could have benefitted. Language is a problem for many, and language problems can spoil training components of projects. Lack of basic knowledge about the African country has caused problems for others.

6.4 The impact

Interviews with consultant TAP and with representatives from agencies and companies give the impression, that consultant TAP are basically "production and implementation-oriented". Contracts are often favouring measurable targets, and this is in line with the most typical consultant TAP qualifications.

Projects based on consultant TAP and with good training and institution building components exist, but it is obvious that many consultant companies have a tendency to form a sort of independent organization for the purpose of reaching the specific project objectives stated in the agreement. Training and institution building will often suffer in such cases.

A special problem can be that a consultant company want to keep executive power to be able to reach agreed production targets. In such cases training at management level and institution building becomes almost impossible.

The best consultant companies may have "better memories" than agencies normally have, and they are sometimes through their utilization of experiences gathered able to "guarantee" a better continuity in a project.

Where the cooperation is based on a twinning arrangement between Nordic and African institutions in the same fields, this becomes even more obvious and we have (as in the case with TRS in Tanzania) seen some of the best results.

6.5 Organizational problems

Organizational problems are especially important in relation to consultant TAP. Project organizations are often complicated with many parties involved, and with consultants they tend to become even more complicated:

The idea is, of course, to make the burden easier for the donor agencies, who do not have to deal with recruitment, administration etc.

But six different parties will often be involved in necessary negotiations involving all groups: Local and headquarter representatives of consultants, local and headquarter representatives of donor agencies and local and central representatives of the recipient.

Representatives of donor agencies at headquarters do not always have the same opinions as the local missions, local consultant TAP can have problems with communications to their Nordic headquarters, and communications between consultants and agencies can create problems. Communication problems and difficulties within the donor system can also make it almost impossible for the recipient to become involved. (A few illustrative cases are referred in the end of this chapter).

If a consultant company is inexperienced and back-stopping weak, and if agreements drawn up with the consultant have not taken into account how conflicts and problems are to be solved, projects involving consultant TAP can become very complicated and burdensome also for the agencies.

Where consultant TAP have been working for experienced responsible consultant companies some of the benefits for the projects have been:

- specialist knowledge
- continuity in operations
- less administrative work for agencies
- cooperation between professionals from similar institutions
- well composed teams with similar background and good management.

where experiences have been less positive, the consultant companies have sometimes been nothing but a company for construction and implementation (including export), sometimes over-staffed with TAP, with far too little integration in the local system and with more loyalty towards the delivering company than towards the donor agency or recipient country.

In some cases "corrective measures" taken by donor agencies, have involved the agencies much more than anticipated.

6.6 Typical problems

A great number of cases already referred to have involved consultant TAP and it has been mentioned in each case. To illustrate typical problems three very different projects involving consultant TAP are described in the following:

Tanga Cement

in Tanzania, assisted by DANIDA through a consultant company which is a specialist in the cement field and responsible for the construction of the plant (and other cement plants). The project is complicated and problems have been many. Only two problems of principle are dealt with here:

Technical assistance is based on an agreement between DANIDA and the Danish consultant company, but only indirectly with the Tanzanian company. Another Tanzanian cement plant owned by the same Tanzanian parastatal receives Swedish assistance through a Swedish consultant company, but based on a contract built on different principles and

involving the Tanzanian company much more directly. For this and other reasons a big and expensive Danish team (12 TAP in spring 1987) and a Swedish team have worked without coordination or cooperation at two Tanzanian cement plants owned by the same parastatal and with similar problems.

The agreement between DANIDA and the Danish consultant company has stated specific production targets for the plant, and the consultant TAP team feared that those targets could only be reached, if and when all management positions were in hands of expatriates. Production targets were in contradiction with training and institution building efforts. The situation was changed through long and complicated negotiations.

Rural Dairy Development Programme

in Kenya supported by FINNIDA through private consultants. The project is an example of a project started without an evaluation of a prior pilot phase or a comprehensive appraisal report. A consultant, who proposed the set-up of a milk processing plant, was also responsible for the feasibility study on the plant.

The strongest input in the project is the plant (as a grant to a cooperative) plus trucks and milk-coolers also delivered as grants. 5 consultant TAP are working for the project.

The project was evaluated by an independent international consultant on FINNIDA contract in December 1986 and the criticism was penetrating. The most serious criticism is, that the need was not rightly assessed. That the idea of competition with existing dairies (KCC) had not been sorted out, and that the project has created a number of problems threatening to weaken the cooperative movement in the area.

There are interesting training elements in the project, (and information in 8.1.2 tells about other positive aspects), but the evaluation shows how a turn-key export operation and including technical assistance can be dangerous for a local society if the need and the economy is not assessed with sufficient care. The evaluation shows also, that there have been no cooperation with other donors in the sector.

Support programme for Inapula province

in Zambia. The programme consists of several components assisted by FIRMIN through a university institution. Here it is basically mentioned for the reasons:

- it illustrates how an inexperienced and weak consultant organization can have administrative problems. TAP criticised lack of backstopping, poor-communication with headquarter etc. and it seems that FINNIDA should have done more to support the university institutions "head-quarters", when the institution was made responsible for the implementation. The TAP were not from the university but recruited from outside.
- in one of the components trucks were delivered to a cooperative workshop, and a consultant TAP was transport and workshop manager. He had only little time for training. Transport planning, and procurement of trucks and spareparts in Finland were important parts of his work. The broken transport fleet of the cooperative union showed, how different donors over the years had granted different trucks, and how maintenance and spare-part problems had increased simultaneously. A counterpart had worked at the workshop for nine years, but saw no possibility for taking over in this system.

The examples, from the cement plant (as a giant investment) over the dairy processing plant to the trucks for a Zambian cooperative union, show, that it is very difficult to combine assistance based on export of plant or equipment (on grant basis) with integration and institution building. Minimum conditions are independent appraisals and monitoring plus sufficient strength at agency level to take and keep overall responsibility for the projects. And itsiscontracts and agreements, which make certain that external companies are answerable to the local organizations, they work with. Many differences should be sorted out at this level, and the partners should here have equal-

SIDA has tried to develop new types of consultant agreements focusing on needs for institution building and training, and offering bonuses to consultant companies for performances which through planning and training lead to less use of TAP and to a sconer handing over of responsibilities to nationals. Suffering should be strengthened. SIDA has also, especially when contracts are between a Swedish and a recipient company, provided the local companyion institution with legal advice, in an effort to give the African partner bargaining strength.

Summary of findings and recommendations

The basic recommendations in the annex study on consultants are based on the fact that consultant TAP are there to stay, but that the almost automatic development towards more use of consultants (partly due to manpower shortages at donor agencies) cannot be justified. Each possible project has to be assessed and the best technical assistance solution selected.

In a number of projects, consultants have a better professional background, and positive twinning and "sister" arrangements can be developed, but in many cases consultants are very concerned with measurable short-term objectives, and not concentrating on integration, institution building and out-phasing of TAP through replacement by nationals.

It is our recommendation, that minimum requirement for the use of consultant TAP are

- that agencies have enough staff to make a real choice between agency TAP and consultant TAP, taking all factors into consideration.
- that agreements with consultants strengthen training and institution building elements, and make it a specified part of plans to out-phase TAP and hand over projects. Models should be developed, which make company profit less dependent on the number of TAP employed.
- that agreements are based on independent assessments and appraisals.
- that the recruitment base is widened to cover more than the donor country. And more emphasis put on recruitment and training of consultant TAP.
- agencies must have enough strength and manpower to retain the overall responsibility of project performance.

Other recommendations (e.g. on the greater use of local professionals) which are relevant for all types of projects are made in the chapter 8 and in the general recommendations.

The cost and cost effectiveness of consultant TAP versus agency TAP are deals with in the annex study and in chapter 9. (ToR 3.5). The normal consultant is - as an individual - normally considerably more expensive than agency TAP. The extra cost covers both the company profit, and back-up services. It is not easy to compare extra costs with possible savings in the donor-agency system but the study shows that it in a number of cases is a problem, that the administrative backstopping is insufficient, and that agencies relying on consultant companies have not enough strength to monitor and adjust projects. The real cost of consultant TAP can in such cases be more expensive, than revealed by official figures.

7. THE PROJECT CYCLE (TOR, part of 3.7 + 3.6)

7.1 Job identification and sources of TAP

7.1.1 Donor countries

The Nordic donor agencies see Technical Assistance as a natural part of assistance. There is a natural specialization in types of projects according to differences in donor countries. Sweden do more in industry, Finland in forestry, Norway in fishery and Dermark in dairy to mention a few obvious examples.

The composition of country programmes reflect much broader interests, but it is still realized that different donor countries have different backgrounds, and the different ways of tying assistance to procurement in donor countries can at least to some degree be justified by the existence of a special expertise in certain areas in the countries.

The technical assistance have followed the same pattern. The Nordic countries have to a certain degree specialized in areas, where expertise and a national resource base exists. And projects have been designed accordingly.

7.1.2 Recipient countries involvement

Recipient countries are formally involved in the project design and the identification of the need for TAP. But they have very often to rely on the donors knowledge about technical needs of a new project and the relevance of the available expertise from outside.

When the size and composition of a TAP component is decided the strongest involvement from the recipient country is seen, where:

a) the project is the result of clearly defined recipient needs in a project or a sector, where the country has some strength and expertise already, in contradiction to "new" sectors or areas, where a need is realised and the local expertise weak or non-existing.

b) it is obvious, that a professional (possibly temporary) function in a project should be staffed with local personnel if at all possible (community participation officers e.g. in water projects have been such examples).

In general the involvement has been greater in Kenya, where it is a general political view-point, that the number of TAP has to be reduced, than in Tanzania and Zambia.

with very few exceptions TAP positions are only identified in the government sectors or in parastatals. The important question when a project is identified is therefore, whether it is possible to man a post with a national government employed person, or whether a TAP is needed.

Missions identifying new projects and preparing project documents include representatives of the recipient, but the strength and majority is normally expatriate "experts", and they have the mission as their main task at that moment, whereas local participants are often attending other duties at the same time.

And because TAP is seen as a free extra gift in connection with financial support it is normally easy for donor and recipient to agree, on what the donor thinks is a sufficient number of TAP to make certain, that a new project will not become a failure due to mismanagement, lack of expertise, vacancies at key positions etc. The recipients have the same short-term interest, and lack funds.

7.1.3 The possible local resource base

The local resource base has, as reflected in chapter 3, been growing as a consequence of the strengthening of higher education and also as a reflection of the economic development. Local expertise is to be found inside and outside the government system, at research institutions, in private or public companies, some specialising in consultancies.

But when projects are designed and positions identified, the choice is normally still between TAP from the donor country, and government employees. A few exceptions exists, and new attitudes are emerging towards a more systematic search for alternative local personnel. But we have seen very few projects involving TAP, where systematic work had been done in an effort to try to identify all available local personnel resources.

Nordic and European TAP are in some cases 100 times more expensive than local professionals, and always several times as expensive. In a situation, where unemployment is and will become a growing problem for many africans with higher education (because governments lack funds), it is extremely important that TAP are not just recruited for positions, where local manpower is available, but where the problem is the government systems inability to employ local professionals.

It can create difficulties to employ nationals on temporary contract and possibly on different terms from the permanent employed national staff, and that is one reason for the situation.

But the few rather unsystematic attempts show, that possibilities exists.

The Finnish supported <u>Rural Dairy Development Programme</u> in Kenya is interesting in this respect. In addition to Finnish TAP, the Finnish consultant has employed a Kenyan professional (M.Sc. in agriculture dairy development) who was trained on scholarship in Finland during phase I of the project. When he returned, he was posted in the area as a livestock development officer, but the many bureaucratic and administrative routines did not allow him to utilize his expertise fully. The Finnish consultant proposed to employ him as Kenyan consultant, and this was accepted by Kenyan authorities. He is now doing the job with higher salary, more autonomy and better motivation.

This and a few other examples show, that it is possible to make untraditional local arrangements. They will sometimes lead to conflicts, and a perfect way to manage this has not yet been developed. But the greater use of local professionals in foreign owned commercial companies, the fact that the resource base is growing, and the few unsystematic attempts donor agencies have made, show that TAP can sometimes be replaced by local professionals at a much lower price.

d by local professionals